
 

 
You can view the agenda on the website  
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code 

 
 

 
  

To: 
 
The Chair and Members 
of the Devon Authorities 
Strategic Waste 
Committee 
 

 

County Hall 
Topsham Road 
Exeter 
Devon  
EX2 4QD 
 

 

Date:  8 June 2021 Contact:  Fred Whitehouse, 01392 381362 

Email:  fred.whitehouse@devon.gov.uk 
 

DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 16th June, 2021 
 
A meeting of the Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee is to be held on the 
above date at 2.15 pm at Committee Suite - County Hall to consider the following 
matters. 
 
 Phil Norrey 
 Chief Executive 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
 PART 1 - OPEN COMMITTEE 

 
1 Apologies for Absence 

  

2 Election of Chair  

 In accordance with the agreed protocol the Chair shall be a District Council 
appointee with the Vice-Chair being a County Council or Torbay Council 
appointee (both with Executive responsibility for waste management). 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 4) 

 Minutes of the meeting held on 15 October 2020, attached  
 

4 Items Requiring Urgent Attention  

 Items which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered at the meeting 
as matters of urgency.  
 
 

https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy


5 Terms of Reference (Pages 5 - 8) 

 The operating rules and Terms of Reference for the Devon Authorities Strategic 
Waste Committee are attached, for information. 
 

6 Budget 2021/22 Position Statement (Pages 9 - 14) 

 Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
(HIW/21/29) 
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 

7 Government Consultation Responses (Pages 15 - 72) 

 Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
(HIW/21/30) 
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 

8 Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay (Pages 73 - 
82) 

 Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
(HIW/21/31) 
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 

9 Waste Prevention and Reuse Strategy Action Plan for 2021/22  

 Presentation by Senior Specialist (Waste), South Hams District Council / West 
Devon Borough Council 
 

  Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions 
 

 MATTERS FOR INFORMATION 
 

10 Future Meetings  

 The County Council’s Calendar of Meetings is available at: 
http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=294 
 

 
 PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 

 Nil. 
 
 

Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should 
therefore be treated accordingly.  They should not be disclosed or passed on to any 
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the 
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal. 

http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=294


MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS 
 
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors   
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD 
 
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor 
parking at County Hall and bus routes. 
 
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information 
see the Travel Devon webpages.  
 
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High 
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.  
 
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors 
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504 
beforehand.  
 
Membership of a Committee  
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page 
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.  
 
Committee Terms of Reference  
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on 
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee, 
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also 
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.  
 
Access to Information 
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to 
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the 
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information 
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All 
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website  
 
Public Participation 
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public 
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of 
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public 
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting. 
 
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District 
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is 
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda 
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice. 
 
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings 
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart 
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the 
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages  

https://new.devon.gov.uk/help/visiting-county-hall/
https://www.traveldevon.info/cycle/
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=416&MId=2487&Ver=4&info=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.devon.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://www.devon.gov.uk/democracy/guide/public-participation-at-committee-meetings/part-1-can-i-attend-a-meeting/
https://devoncc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and 
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so, 
as directed by the Chair.  Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without 
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and 
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed. 
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic 
Services Officer in attendance.  
 
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.  
 
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council  
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may 
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking 
place on that item. 
 
WiFI 
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for 
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall. 
 
Fire  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest 
available exit following the fire exit signs.  If doors fail to unlock press the Green 
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use 
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the 
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park 
behind Bellair. 
 

First Aid 
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.  
 
Mobile Phones 
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council 
Chamber 
 
Alternative Formats 

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in 
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other 
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on 
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to 
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall, 
Exeter, EX2 4QD. 
Induction Loop available  

 
2.  

mailto:committee@devon.gov.uk


 
DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 

15/10/20 

 

 

DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 
 

15 OCTOBER 2020 
 

Present:- 
 
Councillor J Atiya-Alla (Torbay Council) 
Councillor K Baldry (South Hams District Council)  
Councillor A Davis (Devon County Council) 
Councillor A Dewhirst (Teignbridge District Council)  
Councillor D Harvey (Exeter City Council)  
Councillor G Jung (East Devon District Council)  
Councillor C Mott (West Devon Borough Council) 
Councillor N Pearson (North Devon District Council)  
Councillor C Slade (Mid Devon District Council) 

 
 

* 56   Election of Chair and Vice-Chair 
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Atiya-Alla and Councillor Harvey be elected Chair and Vice-Chair 
respectively for the ensuing year. 
 
Post meeting note:  Immediately after the meeting, the Council became aware that Councillor 
Atiya-Alla did not hold Executive responsibilities for waste management thus his election to 
the Chair under Minute *56 was in contravention of the Committee’s Operating Rules and 
Terms of Reference.  The election of Chair will therefore be undertaken at the next meeting. 
 

* 57   Minutes 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting held on 17 October 2019 be signed as a correct 
copy. 
 

* 58   Items Requiring Urgent Attention 
 
There was no item raised as a matter of urgency. 
 

* 59   Announcements 
 
The Chair welcomed Mr Hipkin who was attending the meeting in his capacity as a Co-opted 
Member of the Council's Standards Committee to observe and monitor compliance with the 
Council’s ethical governance framework. 
 

* 60   Hot Topic - COVID-19: Lessons Learnt 
 
Members reported on lessons learnt during the Covid-19 lockdown which in the majority of 
cases had gone well, with good cross communication with Devon County Council, Torbay 
Council and the Districts. 
 

* 61   Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay 
 
The Committee considered the Report and presentation of the Chief Officer for Highways, 
Infrastructure Development and Waste (HIW/20/34), which introduced the new draft 
Resources and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay.   
 
A Review of the 2005 Strategy was published in 2013 and since then there had been many 
developments in waste management.  The Government had published its own Resource and 
Waste Strategy in 2018 and was currently planning further consultation on it, and the 
Environment Bill was progressing through Parliament, although it had been delayed due to 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2 
DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 
15/10/20 

 
Covid-19. Given these changes, it was concluded that a new Strategy for Devon and Torbay 
should be written to reflect the direction of travel and changes in national waste policy.   
 
The Strategy provided the basis for the management of local authority collected waste across 
Devon and Torbay to 2030.  Its objectives were aimed at reducing waste, reducing the carbon 
impact of managing waste and conserving natural resources.  It was proposed that the draft 
Strategy be consulted upon and further considered at this Committee next year prior to final 
approval. 
 
Members’ discussion points with Officers included: 
 

 Concern that a third of food waste was still going into black bins, and also the amount 
of textiles ending up in black bins, especially during the Covid-19 lockdown. 

 How consistency of colours for containers across Devon would help residents’ 
recycling. 

 The problem of extra litter and fly tipping experienced across the summer especially 
on seafronts. 

 The scarcity of electric recycling vehicles. 

 Support for local processing. 

 Torbay’s draft Resource and Waste Management Strategy was open for online 
consultation and feedback welcomed. 

 
It was MOVED by Councillor Davis, SECONDED by Councillor Jung and 
 
RESOLVED that the draft Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay 
be approved for public consultation. 
 

* 62   Budget Proposal for 2021/22 
 
The Committee considered the Report of the Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure 
Development and Waste (HIW/20/35) summarising the options for the proposed funding 
allocations for 2021/22.  It included a report on the Waste and Recycling Advisors’ contract 
and bids for the funding of Reuse Credits, Don’t let Devon go to waste, Clean Devon and an 
allocation for a Waste Audit to be carried out in October 2022.  It also summarised the current 
position with respect to the 2020/21 budget. 
 
The budget proposal for 2021/22 would enable Devon and Torbay local authorities under the 
auspices of the Committee to continue with the valuable work benefitting from the economies 
of scale that partnership working brought. 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Dewhirst, SECONDED by Councillor Slade and 
 
RESOLVED that the proposed budget for 2021/22 be agreed and the re-tender of the Waste 
and Recycling Advisors’ Contract for two years with a potential three-year extension be 
confirmed. 
 

* 63   Waste Performance Statistics 2019/20 
 
The Committee considered the Report and presentation of the Chief Officer for Highways, 
Infrastructure Development and Waste (HIW/20/36) which provided Members with an 
overview of waste performance statistics for Devon and Torbay for 2019/20, with individual 
authority performance tabled at Appendix 1. 
 
Devon remained one of the highest performing Waste Disposal Authorities in England 
achieving its highest ever recycling rate of 56.6% in 2019/20 and, according to provisional 
national data, placed them second highest nationally. 
 
Torbay had achieved a recycling rate of 40.4% in 2019/20, reflecting a slight reduction from 
the previous year, with North Devon at 49.5%, Torridge at 54.1% and East Devon all 

Page 2

Agenda Item 3

file:///C:/Users/wendy.simpson/AppData/Local/Temp/m.g~/a2q55d1f.icc/$$MinutesItem.let


 
DEVON AUTHORITIES STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 

15/10/20 

 

 

recording their highest rates to date.  Members commended East Devon on their 60.5% 
achievement which put them as the 9th highest performing Waste Collection Authority 
nationally, according to provisional data. 
 
It was noted that the majority of Devon authorities exceeded the EU (2020) national target of 
50%. 
 
It was MOVED by Councillor Slade, SECONDED by Councillor Dewhirst and 
 
RESOLVED that support for the Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee Authorities be 
continued to provide comprehensive waste services for residents in accordance with the 
objectives outlined in the Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay 
(2020-2030). 
 

 64   Future Meetings 
 
Next meeting -10 February 2021. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

*DENOTES DELEGATED MATTER WITH POWER TO ACT 
 
 

The Meeting started at 2.15 pm and finished at 4.00 pm 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3





OPERATING RULES AND TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE DEVON AUTHORITIES 
STRATEGIC WASTE COMMITTEE 

1. Working Practices

1. The Committee is established under the provisions of Section 101 of the Local
Government Act 1972.  The area in which the Committee is to exercise its
authority is within the administrative areas of Devon County Council and Torbay
Council.

2. The Committee shall comprise of one elected Member with Cabinet/Executive or
‘portfolio’ responsibility for waste management from each of the respective
Authorities, appointed by each Authority.  Each Authority will ensure that its
appointed Committee Member is a member of its Cabinet or Executive.  Each
Authority will elect a named substitute with full voting rights to attend if the
appointed Member of the committee is unable to attend.
Each Authority should notify the Administering Authority in writing of any
appointment of a Deputy Committee Member.  Authorities may change their
appointee (in line with that Council’s own procedures) at any time and notify the
Administering Authority in writing.

3. Each Member of the Joint Committee appointed by a constituent Council shall be
entitled to one vote on all matters before the Joint Committee.

Voting rights shall be restricted to those local authorities which make a financial 
contribution to the Committee's budget. 

4. The role of each Committee Member will be to attend meetings of the
Committee, to vote on items of business, to commit to and make a positive
contribution to the Joint Committee, and to act as a champion and ambassador
for the Committee, seeking any necessary approvals from their Authority.

5. The Committee shall normally meet 3 times per year, with an annual
presentation of statistical performance.

The quorum for a meeting of the joint committee is one quarter of the whole 
number of the committee  

6. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall be elected annually by the Committee;
the offices of Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall rotate annually between the
County Council and Torbay [as a group] and the District Councils [as a group],
provided the relevant Committee Member represents a local authority with voting
rights.  Nominations for these posts may be stipulated by the constituent council
or made and seconded by any Member of the Committee with all Members
present holding voting rights being able to vote.  The inaugural Chairman will be
the County Council or Torbay Council appointee with the Vice Chairman being a
District Council Member.  This would then alternate, with a District Council
Member as Chairman with a County Council or Torbay Member as Vice-
Chairman and rotate annually.
The County Council shall be the Administering Authority for the Committee. The
County Council's Procedure Rules (Standing Orders) and Financial Regulations
shall apply to the Committee's procedures and activities.

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



7. The Committee shall have the power to co-opt other representatives to serve in a
non-voting capacity. These would be Associate Members without voting rights
but the ability to speak.

8. The County Treasurer shall hold a separate account for the Committee.

2. Terms of Reference

The purpose of the Committee is:-

1. To promote sustainable, cost effective and efficient service delivery through a
shared approach to resource and waste management in Devon.

2. To take ownership of and be responsible for the development, implementation
and review of the Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon Action
Plan.

3. To exercise those responsibilities delegated to the Committee and to make
recommendations to the respective Authorities including through the Chief
Executives and Leaders group on matters of strategic importance including
future strategy, collection, treatment and disposal of wastes; and to implement
and further develop initiatives as requested by this group and joint consultative
committees.

4. To share resources wherever practicable, having due regard to the opportunities
for economies of scale to ensure effective use of resources including joint
procurement opportunities to deliver savings to the public purse.

5. To continue to develop and implement behavioural change & education
initiatives to ensure that communities are well informed and are actively
encouraged to maximise their opportunities for waste minimisation, reuse and
recycling & composting.

6. To consider and adopt funding policies for the Committee's Budget.

7. To administer payments from the Committee's Budget in accordance with the
County Council’s Financial Regulations to finance waste management activities;
to receive accounts relating to Joint Schemes; and to consider the annual budget
for the Committee.

3. Working Arrangements

1. Funding the Committee

(a) The County Council will withhold an agreed percentage of the recycling
credit payment due to the District Councils (credits paid to voluntary groups 
are excluded from this calculation), with additional contributions from 
Devon County Council and Torbay Council.  This amount will be accounted 
for separately and held by the County Treasurer on behalf of the 
Committee.  The amount withheld will be agreed by the Committee 
annually, and will be calculated to produce an agreed budget for 
supporting waste management projects in Devon.  The contribution will be 
calculated by applying the agreed percentage of the applicable recycling 

Page 6

Agenda Item 5



credit rate for the area. In the event that the amount withheld is insufficient 
to fund agreed countywide projects, the shortfall will be made up by an 
adjustment in the following financial year.  

(b)  The Committee’s budget will comprise the payments described in 1(a), plus 
existing balances held. 

2. Membership of the Committee

If any of the parties wishes to cease making a financial contribution [as specified 
in paragraph 1(a) above], it shall be able to do so at the end of the financial year, 
on giving at least 6 months' prior written notice to that effect to each of the other 
parties and on such cessation and shall automatically cease to be (voting 
members) of the Committee from that date; 

it shall be released from further contributions on condition that it accepts liability 
whether financial or otherwise for the effect of its action upon any commitments 
or other arrangements entered into in good faith by member authorities [on 
behalf of the Committee] with third parties prior to such cessation and shall 
automatically cease to be (voting members) of the Committee from any such 
agreed date. 

3. Each party shall take out and maintain a public liability policy of insurance in
respect of its activities as a member of the Committee in such sum and upon
such terms as it shall see fit.

4. Reports for the Committee are to be considered by a Senior Waste Officer Group
comprising of waste service managers from each of the respective Authorities
which shall meet as required by the programme of Committee meetings. The
Senior Waste Officer Group shall set up Working Parties as necessary to
consider specific project areas, which will report back to the Senior Waste Officer
Group and subsequently to Committee.  A Recycling Officers’ Forum, made up
similarly, will report to the Senior Waste Officer Group on waste minimisation, re-
use, recycling & composting initiatives and performance, and attend the
Committee on an annual basis.

5. Minutes of the Committee shall be submitted to the relevant Cabinet/Executive or
Committee of each constituent Council.

6. The County Council’s Head of Service responsible for Waste shall collate annual
recycling statistics for the Committee's consideration

Page 7

Agenda Item 5





HIW/21/29 
Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee 

16 June 2021 
 

Budget Report 2021/22 
 
Report of the Chief Officer Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration 
and determination by the Committee before taking effect 
 
Recommendation:  that the Committee be asked to 
(a) note the 2020/21 final out-turn; 
(b) note the decision taken by the Vice-Chair in approving the carry 

forward budget and approve the proposals for spending the carry over 
and maintaining a contingency in paragraphs 3 and 5. 

 
1. Summary 
 
This report summarises the final out turn for the 2020/21 budget and requests 
approval to how the carry-over will be spent.  Approval was given by the Vice 
Chair of this Committee to carry over the underspent allocations to 2021/22 
because the Committee did not sit in February.  This report formalises what 
has been agreed by the Vice Chair and is proposing what the carry-over could 
be spent on. 
 
2. Introduction 
 
The final out-turn for 2020/21 can be seen in Appendix I and in brief below. 
Each budget line has underspent for reasons related to the Covid 19 
pandemic.  
 

Budget line Budget Spend Underspend 

Reuse Credits 49,000 8,942 40,058 

Don’t let Devon go to 
waste 

41,000 34,746 6,254 

Waste and Recycling 
Advisors contract 

93,804 78,823 14,981 

Clean Devon 7,000 3,142 3,858 

Total 190,804 125,653 65,151 

Carry over from 2019/20   3,840 

 

 The Reuse shops were closed for most of the year so their underspend 
was the most significant at £40,058.  

 The Don’t let Devon go to waste campaign work and website refresh were 
mainly able to continue but the underspend of £6,254 was due to the 
deferral of the On-Street Market Research and a reduction in Website 
Licensing fees 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 The WRA contract normally involves giving face to face advice to 
members of the public on their doorsteps. For some of the time the team 
was therefore furloughed.  There is therefore an underspend of £14,981. 
However, the team were able to do a significant amount of work from 
home, for example: 

o Web content/communications review completed and guidance for 
new Recycling Support staff for Torbay produced 

o Guides produced for Landlords, Holiday home-owners and Holiday 
accommodation users in East Devon 

o FAQs, letter and leaflet copy produced for Exeter’s new service 
o Review of self-catering properties and weekly refuse collections 

review for South Hams 
o Short film production for East and Mid Devon 

 

 Finally, the Clean Devon website was refreshed during February 2021 and 
the litter campaign planned for September 2020 was initiated in March, 
running over to April and May to cover Bank Holidays and the Great British 
Spring Clean.  This was to tie in with the potential influx of visitors from 
Easter onwards.  There was an underspend but only because of the litter 
campaign needing to run over two financial years. 

 
3. Proposal for carry over of the underspend to 2021/22 
 
Reuse Credits 
 
The underspend agreed for carry over of £40,058 will be allocated between 
the groups in the normal way.  They will have been severely impacted by the 
closure of the shops throughout 2020 so it seems prudent to boost their 
reduced 2021/22 budget (of £25,000 as previously agreed by this committee) 
with the 2020/21 underspend resulting in their 2021/22 allocation being 
£58,100.  Hopefully this additional funding will help them recover from the 
impact of the pandemic.  
 
Don’t let Devon go to waste (DLDGTW) and the Waste and Recycling 
Advisors (WRA) Contract 
 
The DLDGTW budget was underspent by £6,254.  The budget for the WRA 
contract was underspent by £14,981.  This latter underspend cannot be 
allocated to the 2021/22 WRA contract because of the nature of a contract.   
 
It is proposed that the combined underspend for DLDGTW and the WRA 
contract is carried forward to develop a countywide Waste Prevention Pack 
for people moving house.  One of the key opportunities to effect behavioural 
change is as life events occur.  One of these is moving house.  This is a time 
when people throw things out, gather new items and move to an area where 
they may not be familiar with local facilities.  It is a great chance to help them 
establish good practices in relation to waste prevention and reuse.  A pilot is 
planned and on the assumption that this proves effective it is proposed the 
packs are made available countywide. 
  

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



Clean Devon 
 
The Clean Devon partnership now has an Action Plan and this year has 
refreshed the website see Home - Clean Devon.  Approval was given by the 
acting chair to carry over a sum to 2021/22 to enable the campaign to run 
over the 2 financial years.  The remainder will be spent on the design, printing 
and distribution of bookmarks to promote the anti-littering message at 
accommodation venues. 
 
4. Conclusion 
 
The proposed budget allocation for 2021/22 agreed in October 2020 is listed in 
the table below. 
 

Initiative Budget 

Reuse Credits  £25,000 

Don’t let Devon go to waste (DLDGTW)  £41,000 

Waste and Recycling Advisors Contract   £95,000 

Litter and fly tipping campaign £7,000 

Waste Audit 2022 £24,000 

Total  £192,000 

 
It is proposed that this budget will be supplemented as noted above by an 
underspend carry forward of £65,151 to be spent on Reuse Credits, a Waste 
Prevention Pack and Clean Devon, and the previous year’s carry over of 
£3,840 can remain as a contingency. 
 
5. Financial Considerations 
 
Supporting the proposed projects leads to waste being dealt with in line with 
the waste hierarchy.  Reducing, reusing and recycling and composting bring 
cost savings for both collection and disposal authorities.   
 
6. Legal Considerations 
 
There are no legal issues arising in relation to this report. 
 
7. Environmental impact considerations (including climate change) 
 
The initiatives proposed under this budget paper will all contribute to a 
reduced impact on the environment including on climate change. 
 
8. Equality Considerations 
 
There are no negative equality considerations relating to the 
recommendations.  The proposals will have a positive effect on the 
environment as well as on people’s understanding of how to reduce, reuse 
and recycle, potentially saving them money too.  The Clean Devon litter and 
fly tipping partnership will contribute to improved community relations.  Litter 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

https://cleandevon.org/


and fly tipping both have a negative effect on community environment and 
wellbeing and initiatives to reduce these will therefore be beneficial. 
 
9. Risk Management Considerations 
 
The DASWC Risk Register will be amended in light of recommendations 
being agreed.  There are no significant risks associated with the proposals. 
 
10. Public Health Impact 
 
There are no impacts to public health identified. 
 
11.  Reason for Recommendation 
 
The Devon and Torbay local authorities have long worked under the auspices 
of the Committee to drive sustainable waste management by sharing 
resources and best practice.  The budget carry over proposal for 2021/22 will 
enable them to continue with this valuable work benefiting from the 
economies of scale that partnership working brings. 
 
Meg Booth 
Chief Officer for Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste  
 

Electoral Divisions:  All 
 
Local Government Act 1972:  List of Background Papers 
Contact for enquiries:  Annette Dentith 
Tel No:  01392 383000 
Room:  County Hall, Exeter EX2 4QD 
 
Background Paper   Date    File Reference 
 
Nil 
 
Budget Report 202122 – Final

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



Appendix I  
To HIW/21/29 

 
2020/21 2020/21

DASWC
Carry 

forward 

Total 

Budget 

2019/20

Expenditure 

to Date

Income to 

Date

Orders 

Raised 

(not yet 

paid)

Further Planned 

Spend (what is 

left to spend)

Outturn

Variation 

from 

Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

2020/21 Allocations (funded by top-slicing) :

Furniture Re-use Payments 49,000 49,000 8,942 0 0 8,942 -40,058

Don't let Devon go to waste  & Online 41,000 41,000 34,872 -126 0 34,746 -6,254

Waste and Recycling Advisors Contract 93,804 93,804 78,823 0 0 78,823 -14,981

Clean Devon 7,000 7,000 3,142 0 0 3,142 -3,858

Total Funded from Top-Slicing 190804 0 190804 125,780 -126 0 0 125653 -65151

Funded by :    

Contribution brought forward from 2019/20 -3,840 -3,840 0 -3,840 0

Less approved carry over commitment 0 0 0 0 0

Income Received from Recycling Credits Topslice in 2020/21: Further Income 

CONTRIBN DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL -99,126.17 -99,126 -99,126 0

CONTRIBN EAST DEVON DIST COUNCIL -12,427.50 -12,428 -12,428 0

CONTRIBN EXETER CITY COUNCIL -10,008.46 -10,008 -10,008 0

CONTRIBN MID DEVON DIST COUNCIL -7,847.96 -7,848 -7,848 0

CONTRIBN NORTH DEVON DIST COUNCIL -10,490.96 -10,491 -10,491 0

CONTRIBN SOUTH HAMS DIST COUNCIL -9,104.93 -9,105 -9,105 0

CONTRIBN TEIGNBRIDGE DIST COUNCIL -13,716.32 -13,716 -13,716 0

CONTRIBN TORBAY COUNCIL -16,481.24 -16,481 -16,481 0

CONTRIBN TORRIDGE DIST COUNCIL -6,759.36 -6,759 -6,759 0

CONTRIBN WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL -4,841.11 -4,841 -4,841 0

Total Income -190,804.01 -3,840 0 0 -194,644 0 0 -194,644 0

Net Total -0.01 -3,840 190,804 125,780 -194,770 0 0 -68991 -65151

DASWC (Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee)  -   Budget monitoring statement 2020/21

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6





HIW/21/30 
Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee 

16 June 2021 
 

Government Consultation Responses 
 
Report of the Chief Officer Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect 
 
Recommendation:  It is recommended that the Committee  
(a) notes the responses submitted to the Government consultations on the 

Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging (EPR) and a Deposit Return 
Scheme (DRSc); 

(b) notes the key points in the consultation on Consistency in Household and 
Business Recycling in England (Consistency). 

 
1. Summary 
 
This report summarises the responses given to the Government consultations on 
EPR and DRSc that were submitted prior to 4th June 2021 and highlights the key 
points for consideration around the current Consistency consultation which closes on 
4th July 2021. 
 
2. Introduction 
 
Following the publication of the Resource and Waste Strategy in December 2018, 
Government have launched a further round of consultations on the detail of 
implementing the Strategy.  It is anticipated that the Environment Bill will proceed 
through Parliament and receive Royal Assent later this year.  Responses to EPR and 
DRSc have already been submitted with a response to the Consistency proposals 
currently being drafted.  A workshop was held on 25th May to enable members to 
gain a better understanding of the proposals and enable responses to be finalised. 
 
3. The Consultations 
 

3.1 Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging (EPR) 
 
The consultation on EPR covered all of the UK and can be found at Extended 
Producer Responsibility for Packaging - Defra - Citizen Space .  It sets out how the 
producers of packaging will become responsible for meeting the full net cost of all of 
the packaging that they place onto the market.  It is proposed that there will be a 
single point of obligation with modulated fees such that the less recyclable packaging 
will incur a higher cost – black polystyrene trays being one example that would 
attract a higher fee.  The aim is to encourage producers to generate less packaging 
and ensure that what is produced can be easily recycled. Core packaging materials 
include paper/cardboard, metal (steel and aluminium), glass, plastic and wood.  
Other materials could be added – there is a proposal to include plastic films from 
households by 2026.  Compostable packaging is proposed to be treated as a 
contaminant until it is able to be recycled.  Local Authorities would receive payments 
from Oct 2023 for the packaging that they manage – full net costs would be met 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/extended-producer-responsibility/extended-producer-responsibility-for-packaging/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/extended-producer-responsibility/extended-producer-responsibility-for-packaging/


providing it could be demonstrated that the collections were effective & efficient and 
both quality and quantity benchmarks had been met.  Payments would be made by 
the Scheme Administrator to each Local Authority who bore the cost of managing the 
packaging.  Payments would cover the ‘necessary costs’ – these are quite wide 
ranging and could include administration and communication costs as well as 
contract renegotiation costs where applicable.  The timeline to procure and set up 
the Scheme Administrator is very tight, and much would depend on how DEFRA 
managed the process going forwards.  The consultation also sets out how EPR 
would apply to packaging in business waste.  The response from Devon Authorities 
Strategic Waste Committee (DASWC) is given in Appendix 1. 
 
3.2 Deposit Return Scheme (DRSc) 
 
The DRSc consultation relates to England, Wales and N Ireland only as per the 
attached link Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme in England, Wales and Northern 
Ireland - Defra - Citizen Space .  Scotland have already agreed to introduce an all-in 
scheme to be implemented in 2022. 
 
The proposals consult on two options – an all-in scheme or an on-the-go.  Items in 
scope will potentially include drink containers made from metal, glass and 
polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plastic.  On-the-go will relate to 750ml and less 
receptacles.  It suggests that the introduction of any scheme could be delayed until 
2024 and cites Covid as a reason for this.  Behaviours have changed significantly in 
the last 15 months with the significant increase in online shopping.  It is not clear 
whether there will be much appetite by the public to return those items in scope to a 
Reverse Vending Machine.  
 
The DASWC response is given in Appendix 2.  If EPR and Consistency increase the 
levels of recycling then it is not clear whether there is any need for a DRSc – hence 
our response suggests that it should be reconsidered at a later date to see if it is still 
needed.  If ‘all in’ is implemented then this will take valuable material away from the 
kerbside collections.  There is a mechanism contained within the consultation which 
will enable Local Authorities to claim unredeemed deposits for the items that are still 
collected from the kerbside.  The DASWC response also favoured a digital based 
scheme recognising that this would need to be developed further to ensure that 
deposits were only redeemed if the drinks container was genuinely recycled.  
 
3.3 Consistency 
 
This was published after the other two consultations following the local elections – 
details are given at Consistency in Household and Business Recycling in England - 
Defra - Citizen Space.  It sets out proposals for consistency in household and 
business recycling in England only.  The proposals are still being considered and a 
joint response drafted, with the closing date of 4th July for responses to be submitted.  
 
The consultation sets out the statutory requirement to collect food waste from each 
household separately on a weekly basis.  This will be from 2023/24 for those who 
already collect food, from 2024/25 for those who would need to introduce a new 
service and up to 2030/31 for those where there would be a significant impact on 
their current residual waste contracts.  The proposals also suggest a core range of 
dry recyclable materials to be collected at the kerbside from 2023/24 which mirrors 
the EPR core materials as well as the potential inclusion of aluminium foil & food 

Page 16

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/consistency-in-household-and-business-recycling/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste-and-recycling/consistency-in-household-and-business-recycling/


trays, steel & aluminium aerosols, aluminium tubes, metal jar/lids, food and drink 
cartons  and plastic films by 2026/27.  
 
The consultation also proposes a free minimum service for collection of household 
garden waste based on a carbon assessment.  Alternatives of providing guidance on 
reasonable charges, clear communications about not placing garden waste into the 
residual waste and increased home composting are also being proposed.  Given all 
but one of the Waste Collection Authorities charge for garden waste collections this 
proposal could have a significant impact on Devon’s councils.  
 
The proposals suggest that Government prefer that core recyclables are collected 
separately at the kerbside.  However, the Secretary of State can allow materials to 
be collected together subject to a written assessment demonstrating that comingled 
collections do not significantly reduce the potential for those recyclable materials to 
be recycled or composted.  An exemption is proposed for plastic and metal to be 
collected together and glass and metal collected together.  
 
Government also propose to introduce statutory guidance and minimum service 
standards including potentially restricting frequency of residual waste collections to 
no less frequently than fortnightly.  There is evidence to suggest that a 3 weekly 
residual waste collection encourages residents to make good use of their recycling 
and food waste collections – East Devon’s recycling rate of over 60% is testament.  
 
Government also propose to review the recycling credits arrangements between two 
tier authorities recognising that the cost of managing packaging materials will be met 
by the producers – around 67% of what is collected at the kerbside is packaging.  
 
Government suggest that new statutory requirements placed on Local Authorities will 
be financed through New Burdens.  However, there is currently little detail around 
this, and it is unlikely to be forthcoming until 2023/24.   
 
Government are also consulting on improving the recycling of non-household 
municipal waste from businesses and non-domestic premises. Five core materials 
are proposed that should be collected separately – paper/card, glass, metal, plastic 
and food waste. 
 
4. Financial Considerations 
 
Under the EPR proposals Local Authorities will receive funding to manage packaging 
waste – full net cost recovery is proposed for those who offer ‘efficient & effective’ 
services.  Under DRSc Local Authorities will be able to reclaim unredeemed deposits 
through an agreed mechanism.  The Consistency consultation suggests that 
additional costs incurred by Local Authorities as a result of new statutory duties (e.g. 
weekly food and free garden waste) will be covered by New Burdens.  However, 
there is little detail currently of what financial support will be provided and whether it 
will be new funding or an alternative source of funding.  
 
5. Legal Considerations 
 
There are no legal issues arising in relation to this report. 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



6. Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change) 
 
Government proposals will reduce the carbon impact of waste services and manage 
waste higher up the waste hierarchy as recycling levels improve.  Impact 
assessments were undertaken by Government to support the consultations and can 
be found on the relevant webpages. 
 
7. Equality Considerations 
 
The proposed free collection of garden waste could be argued is unfair to those 
residents that don’t have a garden being asked to fund through taxation those that 
do.  It does also not support the polluter pays principle.  Adding a deposit to drinks 
containers will make certain items more expensive although the deposit can be 
redeemed. 
 
8. Risk Management Considerations 
 
There are no significant risks associated with the consultations except for what has 
been highlighted in the responses. 
 
9. Public Health Impact 
 
There are no impacts to public health identified. 
 
10. Summary/Conclusions/Reasons for recommendations and next steps 
 
These consultations set out Government’s proposals for managing waste in the 
future and will move the UK to a more circular economy.  Further detail is required to 
understand the exact implications for Devon’s authorities, in particular the level of 
new funding that may be available.  Government are expected to announce the 
outcome of the consultations at the end of this year with draft regulations laid before 
Parliament next year – this timescale will depend on the Environment Bill being 
passed into an Act.  However, it would be prudent for Devon’s authorities to start 
planning what changes they will need to make to their current waste services to 
comply with what is being proposed and the timescales & funding required to make 
these changes. 
 
Meg Booth 
Chief Officer Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
 
Electoral Divisions:  All 

Local Government Act 1972:  List of Background Papers 
Contact for enquiries:  Wendy Barratt 
Tel No:  01392 383000 
Room:  County Hall, Exeter EX2 4QD 
 
Background Paper   Date    File Ref. 
 
Nil 
 
Government Consultation Responses - Final

Page 18

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 1 to HIW/21/30 

Consultation on Extended Producer Responsibility for Packaging – 
response by Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee 

 
Word template to help organisations formulate responses internally with 
colleagues. 
 
Important to note that Questions 19-23 in this document are actually within 
Annex 1 of the Consultation document itself and numbered Q101-104 so all 
questions from number 19 onwards do not match the consultation document 
but do match DEFRA’s Citizen Space 
 

 
 

About you 
 
1. What is your name? 

Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee (DASWC) 

2. What is your email address? 

This is optional, but if you enter your email address you will be able to return to edit 

your consultation response in Citizen Space at anytime until you submit it. You will 

also receive an acknowledgement email when you submit a completed response. 

Wendy.barratt@devon.gov.uk 

3. Which best describes you? Please provide the name of the 

organisation/business you represent and an approximate size/number of staff 

(where applicable). 

Please tick one option. If multiple categories apply, please choose the one which 

best describes the organisation you are representing in your response. 

☐ Academic or research 

☐ Business representative organisation/trade body 

☐ Charity or social enterprise 

☐ Community group 

☐ Consultancy 

☐ Distributor 

☐ Individual 

☒ Local government 

☐ Non-governmental organisation 

☐ Product designer/manufacturer/pack filler 

☐ Packaging designer/manufacturer/converter 

☐ Operator/reproccessor 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



☐ Exporter 

☐ Retailer including Online Marketplace 

☐ Waste management company 

☐ Other 

Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee (DASWC) is a partnership of Exeter 
City Council, East Devon District Council, Teignbridge District Council, West Devon 
Borough Council, South Hams District Council, North Devon District Council, Mid 
Devon District Council, Torridge District Council, Devon County Council and Torbay 
Council. 
 
If you answered 'other', please provide details 

Organisation name   
 
Organisation size 

4. Would you like your response to be confidential? 

If you answered 'yes' please provide your reason. 

5. Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital 

services for Extended Producer Responsibility. Would you like your contact 

details to be added to a user panel for Extended Producer Responsibility so 

that we can invite you to participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops, 

interviews) or to test digital services as they are designed and built? 

 
You can read a Privacy Notice that explains how your information is safeguarded in 
relation to user research, what we will and won’t do with it, how long it will be kept 
and how to opt out of user research if you change your mind. 

 
What we want to achieve: packaging waste recycling targets 

6. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed framework for setting 

packaging targets? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

7. Do you agree or disagree that the business packaging waste recycling 

targets set for 2022 should be rolled over to the calendar year 2023? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

Page 20

Agenda Item 7

https://defragroup.eu.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV_1X0h5rdLMwjLOAZ


☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

8. Do you agree or disagree that the recycling target to be met by 2030 for 

aluminium could be higher than the rate in Table 3? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

9. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 

2030 for glass set out in table 3? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

10. What should the glass re-melt target for 2030 for non-bottle packaging be 

set at? 

Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Any target that is set needs to have consideration of the impact of Consistency, EPR 
and markets that are likely to be available at that time. 

11. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 

2030 for plastic set out in table 3? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

12. Do you think a higher recycling target should be set for wood in 2030 than 

the minimum rate shown in Table 3? 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



Waste should be managed as high up the waste hierarchy as possible and hence it’s 
important to set targets that will lead to more wood being sent for recycling rather 
than biomass.  

13. If higher recycling targets are to be set for 2030, should a sub-target be set 

that encourages long term end markets for recycled wood? 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Long term end markets are essential for increasing the levels of recycling – setting a 
target doesn’t necessarily ensure a market and hence it’s not clear what would be 
gained by doing this. 

14. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 

2030 for steel set out in table 3? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
We agree the targets on the understanding that Government confirms that IBA 
metals will be included within the targets and clearly explains how tonnages will be 
calculated and how Local Authorities will receive EPR payments on this basis 

15. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed minimum target to be met by 

2030 for paper/card set out in table 3? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

16. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to set recycling targets for 

fibre-based composites? 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

17. Do you agree or disagree that there may be a need for 'closed loop' 

recycling targets for plastics, in addition to the Plastics Packaging Tax? 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7



☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Closed loop recycling for plastics will help to ensure that high value markets are 
maintained for some high value plastics.  

18. Please indicate other packaging material that may benefit from 'closed 

loop' targets? 

Please answer here 
 
DASWC has no strong views on this 

19. Which of the definitions listed below most accurately defines reusable 

packaging that could be applied to possible future reuse/refill targets or 

obligations in regulations? Q101 from the annex in the consultation document 

Further information to help answer this question (and the 4 that follow) can be found 

in Annex 1 of the consultation document. 

☐ Definition in The Packaging (Essential Requirements) 2015 

☐ Definition in The Packaging and Packaging Waste Directive (PPWD) 

☐ Definition adopted by The UK Plastic Pact/The Ellen MacArthur Foundation 

☒ None of the above 

 
If you selected 'none of the above', please provide the reason for your response, 
including any suggestions of alternative definitions for us to consider. 
 
None of the definitions fully encompass re-usable packaging but the UK Plastic Pack 
is the most comprehensive one but doesn’t include the need for re-usable packaging 
itself to be recyclable once it has reached its end of life. 

20. Do you have any views on any of the listed approaches, or any alternative 

approaches, for setting reuse and refill targets and obligations? Please 

provide evidence where possible to support your views. Q102 from the annex 

in the consultation document 

Please answer here. 
These targets should align with the Waste Prevention Plan currently out for 
consultation.  

21. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should 

proactively fund the development and commercialisation of reuse systems? 

Q103 from the annex in the consultation document 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Producers should actively promote re-use and fund the development of reuse 
systems as it supports the Circular Economy principles. 

22. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should look to 

use modulated fees to incentivise the adoption of reuse and refill packaging 

systems? Q104 from the annex in the consultation document 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
The Resource and Waste Strategy supports the movement of waste up the waste 

hierarchy therefore the modulated fee structure should support the same aim and 

encourage producers to use packaging that can be refilled/reused ahead of any 

single use packaging whilst ensuring that the reusable packaging can itself be 

recycled once it can no longer be reused. 

EPR funds should also be used to actively communicate the benefits of 

reusable/refillable packaging to the consumer to drive behaviour change and 

increase demand. 

 

Producer obligations for full net cost payments and reporting 
 
23. Do you agree or disagree that Brand Owners are best placed to respond 

effectively and quickly to incentives that are provided through the scheme? 

Q19 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

24. Are there any situations where the proposed approach to imports would 

result in packaging being imported into the UK which does not pick up an 

obligation (except if the importer or first-owner is below the de-minimis, or if 

the packaging is subsequently exported)? Q20 

Where available, please share evidence to support your view. 
 
DASWC has no strong views on this.  

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



25. Of Options 2 and 3, which do you think would be most effective at both 

capturing more packaging in the system and ensuring the smallest businesses 

are protected from excessive burden? Q21 

☐ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

☐ Neither 

☒ Don’t know 

 
If you answered ‘neither’, please provide the reason for your response and describe 
any suggestions for alternative approaches to small businesses. 
 
DASWC does not feel that it has the expert knowledge required to comment on 
either of these approaches. 

26. If either Option 2 or 3 is implemented, do you consider there to be a strong 

case to also reduce the de-minimis threshold as set out in Option 1? Q22 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 

27. Do you think that Online Marketplaces should be obligated for unfilled 

packaging in addition to filled packaging? Q23 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please provide the reason for your response. 
 
The brand owner should be the obligated producer regardless of where the 
packaging/product is sold and hence there would be a risk of duplication and 
confusion as to where the responsibilities lay.  

28. Do you foresee any issues with Online Marketplaces not being obligated 

for packaging sold through their platforms by UK-based businesses? Q24 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please provide the reason for your response. 

29. This proposal will require Online Marketplaces to assess what packaging 

data they can collate and then, where there are gaps to work together to create 

a methodology for how they will fill those gaps. Do you think there are any 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



barriers to Online Marketplaces developing a methodology in time for the start 

of the 2022 reporting year (January 2022)? Q25 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please provide the reason for your response. 
 
The timeline is challenging but potentially achievable with enough resource.  
However, the SA will need to review and agree which may be difficult if they have 
only just been appointed (assuming procurement and appointment goes to plan). 

30. Is there any packaging that would not be reported by the obligation as 

proposed below (except for packaging that is manufactured and sold by 

businesses who sit below the de-minimis)? Q26 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please detail what packaging would not be reported by this 
approach. 
 
DASWC is not aware of any but doesn’t know the detail to be able to 
comprehensively say ‘Yes’  

31. Do you agree or disagree that the Allocation Method should be removed? 

Q27 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 

Producer obligations: disposable cups takeback 
 
32. Do you agree or disagree that a mandatory, producer-led takeback 

obligation should be placed on sellers of filled disposable paper cups? Q28 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or suggest any 
alternative proposals for increasing the collection and recycling of disposable cups. 

33. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed phased approach to 

introducing the takeback obligation, with larger businesses/sellers of filled 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



disposable paper cups obligated by the end of 2023, and the obligation 

extended to all sellers of filled disposable paper cups by the end of 2025? Q29 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or how you think 
the mandatory takeback obligation should be introduced for sellers of filled 
disposable cups. 
 
Obligations for all should ideally be introduced from 2023 such that there is no public 
confusion about take back schemes for paper cups regardless of where they are 
purchased.  

 

Modulated fees, labelling and plastic films recycling 
 
34. Do you think that the proposed strategic frameworks will result in a fair and 

effective system to modulate producer fees being established? Q30 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no' please provide the reason for your response, being specific with 
your answer where possible. 

35. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should decide 

what measures should be taken to adjust fees if a producer has been unable to 

self-assess, or provides inaccurate information? This is in addition to any 

enforcement that might be undertaken by the regulators. Q31 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Producers need to comply and the consequences of not doing so need to be 
sufficient to encourage compliance and clearly set out in an open and transparent 
manner. A minimum fee level set at significantly above that for non-recyclable 
materials should be set out clearly in the regulations. This should be set high enough 
to firmly discourage producers from failing to meet the requirements and ensure local 
authorities are covered for any and all costs associated with the collection and 
processing of materials from non-compliant producers 

36. Do you agree or disagree with our preferred approach (Option 1) to 

implementing mandatory labelling? Q32 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Preference should be on ease for the consumer rather than ease for the producer. 

Option 1 may allow flexibility for the producer but we must make it as simple and 

clear for the consumer to recycle all recyclable packaging with the minimum of 

confusion, if targets are to be achieved.  Preference is for Option 2 as it allows a 

single, agreed cross product label that will be a) more recognisable for the consumer 

and b) simpler to communicate across all platforms. Small producers may need 

additional support to be able to comply with new labelling requirements.  

37. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all producers could be 

required to use the same 'do not recycle' label? Q33 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

38. Do you think that the timescales proposed provide sufficient time to 

implement the new labelling requirements? Q34 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no' please provide the reason for your response. 
 
Clear labelling is required such that the consumer will understand what to do with 
their packaging. There may be some areas where the labelling doesn’t match the 
speed of service change but this transition period will be for a finite time only. 

39. Do you agree or disagree that the labelling requirement should be placed 

on businesses who sell unfilled packaging directly to small businesses? Q35 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

40. Do you think it would be useful to have enhancements on labels, such as 

including 'in the UK' and making them digitally enabled? Q36 

☐ Yes 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please state what enhancements would be useful. 
 
Digitally enabled may be helpful to track packaging if required to do so for audit 
purposes.  

41. Do you agree or disagree that local authorities across the UK who do not 

currently collect plastic films in their collection services should adopt the 

collection of this material no later than end of financial year 2026/27? Q37 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you 
consider local authorities could collect films and flexibles from. Please share any 
evidence to support your views. 
 
DASWC authorities currently do not collect plastic films/flexibles  so this would be a 

service change for us.  Plastics films are currently a contaminant on their own and 

may also contaminate other recyclable materials (e.g. food waste residue on the film 

contaminating fibre packaging and products).  Costs to potentially change contracts, 

adapt vehicles  and/or upgrade MRFs to handle this material could be significant and 

would need to be covered. Markets will need to be developed too as currently there 

are very little if any outlets for this type of material. 

If the collection of plastic films was introduced from April 2026 and the material was 

labelled as recyclable, it is conceivable that significant costs will be incurred to deal 

with contamination, or the contamination levels will become unsustainable and other 

recyclable items may be compromised both in terms of quality and sales value, 

having a detrimental effect on achieving targets. 

42. Do you agree or disagree that collections of plastic films and flexibles from 

business premises across the UK could be achieved by end of financial year 

2024/5? Q38 

☐ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or what date you 
consider this could be achieved by. Please share any evidence to support your 
views. 
 
Would make sense for the date to correspond with collection of films within 
household waste. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



43. Do you agree or disagree that there should be an exemption from the ‘do 

not recycle’ label for biodegradable/compostable packaging that is filled and 

consumed (and collected and taken to composting/anaerobic digestion 

facilities that accept it), in closed loop situations where reuse or recycling 

options are unavailable? Q39 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
DASWC authorities are keen to encourage sustainable events where the packaging 
is controlled and the treatment option is identified to recycle/compost the packaging 
effectively. However there are concerns around how these events would be 
managed to ensure that the packaging was not contaminated and it was only used at 
the actual event.  

44. Do you consider that any unintended consequences may arise as a result 

of the proposed approach to modulated fees for compostable and 

biodegradable plastic packaging? Q40 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please detail what you think these unintended consequences 
could be and provide any suggestions for how they may be avoided. 
 
There may well be some unintended consequences – careful thought would need to 
be given to ensure that it didn’t encourage a switch to other materials to avoid the 
modulated fees.  

 

Payments for managing packaging waste: necessary costs 
 
45. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed definition and scope of 

necessary costs? Q41 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why and provide any costs you think should be 
included under the definition of necessary costs. 
 
The list of necessary costs is very broad and seemingly comprehensive. It includes 
services that are already in place (i.e. not just newly introduced services) and 
support/staff costs associated with running and improving the services. However it’s 
not clear that the financial impact on existing long term disposal contracts in 

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



particular is included which may include guaranteed minimum tonnages, change in 
calorific value and the legal support that would be required to make any contract 
changes. Payments are proposed from 2023 so it’s unclear how transition costs will 
be funded. Enforcement costs for managing packaging waste should also be 
included.  

 

Payments for managing packaging waste from households 
 
46. Do you agree or disagree that payments should be based on good practice, 

efficient and effective system costs and relevant peer benchmarks? Q42 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail any issues you think there are with this approach and 
how you think payments should instead be calculated. 
 
The consultation does not give sufficient detail to be able to support this – we simply 
do not know what this means. WRAP modelling could be used but it needs to have 
confidence from Local Authorities that it is representative of their actual costs 
recognising that it may not be an exact fit. We have yet to see the detail and cannot 
comment until we do.  
 
The methodology developed by Government/WRAP is completely advisory and the 
scheme administrator determines what the system should be. Hence under the 
current proposals we will not have any certainty on how our costs will be met until 
after early 2023 when the Scheme Administrator has been appointed.  

47. Do you agree or disagree that the per tonne payment to local authorities for 

packaging materials collected and sorted for recycling should be net off an 

average price per tonne for each material collected? Q43 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree  

 
If you disagree, please detail how material value should be netted-off a local 
authority's payment. 
 
This approach incentivises authorities to achieve a higher price than the average for 
quality recyclate in order to achieve surplus income. However it is recognised that 
there will be winners and losers with this approach.  

48. Do you agree or disagree that the Scheme Administrator should have the 

ability to apply incentive adjustments to local authority payments to drive 

performance and quality in the system? Q44 

☒ Agree  

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think the ability to apply an incentive adjustment 
should not apply. 
 
Agree that this could help achieve objectives & encourage all Local Authorities to 
improve their performances. 

49. Do you agree or disagree that local authorities should be given reasonable 

time and support to move to efficient and effective systems and improve their 

performance before incentive adjustments to payments are applied? Q45 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

50. Should individual local authorities be guaranteed a minimum proportion of 

their waste management cost regardless of performance? Q46 

☒ Agree  

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
All Local Authorities will be collecting packaging regardless of what system they 
have in place and this needs to be recognised as they will be incurring costs. A 
better system may be to guarantee all Local Authorities a  fixed payment based on 
modelled costs and then a variable payment to reflect actual performance. 

51. Do you agree or disagree that there should be incentive adjustments or 

rewards to encourage local authorities to exceed their modelled recycling 

benchmarks? Q47 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think incentive adjustments should not be 
applied to encourage local authorities to exceed their recycling performance 
benchmarks. 
 
Local Authorities should be encouraged to continue to improve their services and 
this should be recognised through an incentive payment.  

52. Do you agree or disagree that unallocated payments should be used to 

help local authorities meet their recycling performance benchmarks, and 

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



contribute to Extended Producer Responsibility outcomes through wider 

investment and innovation, where it provides value for money? Q48 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail how you think any unallocated payments to local 
authorities should be used. 
 
Any unallocated payments should be invested back into the scheme  

53. Do you agree or disagree that residual payments should be calculated 

using modelled costs of efficient and effective systems based on the average 

composition of packaging waste within the residual stream? Q49 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree  

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail how you think residual waste payments should instead 
be calculated. 
 
Residual waste composition does (and could continue to) vary considerably between 
authorities & regions depending on their geographical, deprivation level and 
household composition. This is an opportunity to understand these differences far 
better by funding regular composition analyses for each authority. This must be fully 
funded under EPR. It should lead to composition analyses becoming more efficient 
through economies of scale and technological advancement (e.g. AI). 
 
The results of the composition analyses could then be combined to create a 
reasonable optimised composition for each authority ‘grouping’, on which payments 
could be based. 

54. Do you agree or disagree that a disposal authority within a two-tier 

authority area (England only) should receive the disposal element of the 

residual waste payment directly? Q50 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
This would be logical because the disposal authority incurs the costs. 

 

Payments for managing packaging waste from businesses 
 
55. Do you agree or disagree that there remains a strong rationale for making 

producers responsible for the costs of managing packaging waste produced 

by businesses? Q51 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

56. Do you agree or disagree that all commercial and industrial packaging 

should be in scope of the producer payment requirements except where a 

producer has the necessary evidence that they have paid for its management 

directly? Q52 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

57. Which approach do you believe is most suited to deliver the outcomes 

being sought below? Q53 

☒ Option 1  

☐ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

☐ All could work 

☐ Do not know enough to provide a view 

 
This option, also known as the ‘per tonne approach’ is the option that is best linked 
to producer pays principle and the actual costs of managing the waste. The second 
one involves compliance schemes, which adds complication. The third is a ‘free bin’ 
option which appears to have potential for exploitation, i.e. contamination of the free 
bin. 

58. Do you disagree strongly with any of the options listed in the previous 

question? Q54 

☒ Yes  

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please explain which and provide your reason. 
 
Option 3 appears to have potential for exploitation, i.e. contamination of the free bin. 

59. Do you think there will be any issues with not having either Packaging 

Recovery Notes/Packaging Export Recovery Notes or the business payment 

mechanism (and as a result recycling targets) in place for a short period of 

time? Q55 

☒ Yes 

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



☐ No 

☐ Unsure  

 
If you answered 'yes', please detail what issues you think there will be. 
 
Lack of evidence will give a gap in data which will not be helpful for future monitoring 
purposes – comparison of data etc 

 

Payments for managing packaging waste: data and reporting 
requirements 
 
60. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a sampling regime 

for packaging as an amendment to the MF Regulations in England, Wales and 

Scotland and incorporation into new or existing regulations in Northern 

Ireland? Q56 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think the proposed sampling regime for 
packaging waste should not be incorporated as an amendment to MF Regulations in 
England, Wales and Scotland and incorporated into new or existing regulations in 
Northern Ireland. 
 
Building on, and improving, the existing legislation seems logical. 

61. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal to require all First Points of 

Consolidation to be responsible for sampling and reporting in accordance with 

a new packaging waste sampling and reporting regime? Q57 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail who you think should be required to meet the 
packaging sampling and reporting regime for Extended Producer Responsibility 
purposes. 
 
DASWC agrees that this is necessary such that quality and composition can be 
assessed at the earliest opportunity. However a number of our current bulking up 
points/ transfer stations are already at capacity and hence there are concerns about 
how this will be accommodated on our sites. In addition any costs incurred as a 
result of having to meet this requirement should be fuilly met by the producers as a 
‘necessary’ cost. 

62. Do you agree or disagree that the existing MF Regulations’ de-minimis 

threshold of facilities that receive 1000 tonnes or more per annum of mixed 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



waste material would need to be removed or changed to capture all First 

Points of Consolidation? Q58 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think a de-minimis threshold is required. 
 
If all First Points Of Compliance are to be included then this threshold would need to 
be removed. However a number of our current bulking up points/ transfer stations 
are already at capacity and hence there are concerns about how this will be 
accommodated on our sites. In addition any costs incurred as a result of having to 
meet this requirement should be fuilly met by the producers as a ‘necessary’ cost. 

63. Do you think the following list of materials and packaging formats should 

form the basis for a manual sampling protocol? Q59 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', what other materials, format categories or level of separation 
should be included as part of the manual sampling protocol? 
 
The current list appears to be simplistic but additional materials could be added over 
time. 

64. Do you think it is feasible to implement more rigorous sampling 

arrangements within 6-12 months of the regulations being in place? Q60 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and detail what 
should be considered in determining an appropriate implementation period. 
 
This will depend on what is actually proposed. 

65. Do you think visual detection technology should be introduced from 2025 

to further enhance the sampling regime? Q61 

☐ Yes  

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please detail why you think it should not be considered as a 
medium to long-term method of sampling. 
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



More work is clearly needed to see if this is technically feasible and cost effective, 
but a target date should serve to speed up development of the technology. 

66. Do you think existing packaging proportion protocols used by 

reprocessors would provide a robust and proportionate system to estimate the 

packaging content of source segregated materials? Q62 

☐ Yes 

☐ Yes, with refinement 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure  

 
If you answered 'no', please detail why you think these would not be suitable to use 
to determine the packaging content in source segregated material. 
 
DASWC would question whether this would give sufficient confidence to give 
accurate data.  

67. Do you agree or disagree that minimum output material quality standards 

should be set for sorted packaging materials at a material facility? Q63 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree  

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

68. Do you agree or disagree that material facilities that undertake sorting prior 

to sending the material to a reprocessor or exporter should have to meet those 

minimum standards in addition to just assessing and reporting against them? 

Q64 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree  

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

69. Do you think any existing industry grades and standards could be used as 

minimal output material quality standards? Q65 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure  

 
If you answered 'yes' please provide evidence of standards you think would be 
suitable for use as minimal output material standards. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Payments for managing packaging waste: reporting and payment 
cycles 
 
70. Do you agree or disagree that local authority payments should be made 

quarterly, on a financial year basis? Q66 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or suggest any 
alternative proposals. 
 
Quarterly reporting aligns with other reporting systems but there does need to be an 
annual reconciliation process such that data matches payments similar to sign off on 
Waste Data Flow. 

71. Do you agree or disagree that household and business packaging waste 

management payments should be based on previous year’s data? Q67 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree  

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide any concerns you have with the proposed approach 
and/or any alternative proposals. 
 
This delay is too long and the risk is that the payment becomes divorced from reality, 
reducing the incentive for improvements in performance. This is an opportunity to 
incentivise the waste sector to increase the speed and efficiency of waste data 
reporting. If a fixed payment was made and then a variable payment to reflect actual 
performance this would assist with budget setting and understanding cash flow 
amounts.  

 

Litter payments 
 
72. Do you agree or disagree that the costs of litter management should be 

borne by the producers of commonly littered items based on their prevalence 

in the litter waste stream as determined by a composition analysis which is 

described in option 2? Q68 

☒ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and/or provide an 
alternative approach to litter management costs being based on a commonly littered 
basis. 
 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



This is fair and in-line with the producer pays principle. The producer of frequently 
littered products will be incentivised to find ways to reduce littering. 

73. In addition to local authorities, which of the following duty bodies do you 

agree should also receive full net cost payments for managing littered 

packaging? Please select all that apply. Q69 

☒ Other duty bodies  

☒ Litter authorities  

☒ Statutory undertakers  

☐ None of the above 

☒ Any other(s) - please specify  

 
If you selected 'Any other(s)' - please specify here. 
 
All organisations that incur costs from managing litter including the voluntary sector 
through organised litter picks. 

74. Do you agree or disagree that producers should contribute to the costs of 

litter prevention and management activities on other land? Q70 

☐ Agree  

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
It is unclear how this could be managed – whilst the producers should meet the costs 
of those bodies with a recognised responsibility to clear litter and costs are known 
this would be less regulated and hence potentially open to abuse.  

75. Do you agree or disagree that local authority litter payments should be 

linked to improved data reporting? Q71 

☐ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think litter payments should not be linked to 
improved data reporting. 
 
Good data reporting should form part of an ‘optimised system’ for litter collection and 
management. However it is unclear what is being proposed and hence difficult to 
comment further. 

76. Do you agree or disagree that payments should be linked to standards of 

local cleanliness over time? Q72 

☐ Agree 

☒ Disagree  

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
It is not clear what these standards will be and how they will be assessed. Beaches 
in Devon were overcome with litter following the lifting of lockdown and yet the Local 
Authorities had made considerable efforts to manage the demand. We would not 
wish to be measured on events that we cannot control.  

 

Scheme administration and governance 
 
77. Do you agree or disagree that the functions relating to the management of 

producer obligations in respect of household packaging waste and litter 

including the distribution of payments to local authorities are managed by a 

single organisation? Q73 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
The appointment and governance of the Scheme Administrator (SA)  is critical to 
making the EPR scheme work such that producers meet the full net costs of 
managing the packaging that they produce and waste management systems that are 
put in place are efficient and effective. DASWC agrees that it should be a not for 
profit organisation although it is difficult to see who might be interested in operating it 
as such unless they had a vested interest – in which case it would not be an 
independent body. The governance structure of the SA needs to reflect the 
stakeholders involved in the system and hence it is essential that local government 
has a role to play given it is such a key player in the success of this scheme. Little 
detail has been provided around governance arrangements but there should be a 
seat for a local government representative on any governing Board. It is not clear 
how managing the SA through a contractual arrangement with Government allows 
for stakeholder engagement and feedback to both producers and local authorities. 
The process for award is to be competitive but it is not clear how bids will be 
assessed and what criteria will be used for awarding the contract. Also there is not 
detail given around performance management of the SA and KPIs. SAs are 
expected to outline how stakeholders will be represented as part of the scheme 
management but it is unclear how much of a role local authorities will have on the 
overall scheme administration or indeed in developing the ITT documentation such 
that their interests are truly represented. DASWC is concerned that our interests may 
not be fully and fairly represented with the SA as currently proposed.  

78. Overall which governance and administrative option do you prefer? Q74 

☒ Option 1 

☐ Option 2 

☐ Neither Option 1 nor Option 2 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



 
Option 1 provides clarity of purpose for the Scheme Administrator with its role and 
responsibilities being able to be clearly defined. Introducing compliance schemes as 
an interface with producers to meet their obligations introduces another layer of 
complexity and it’s hard to see what value it would add to the arrangements that will 
need to be put in place to deliver the objectives of the scheme. The IA supporting the 
Consultation suggests that introducing compliance schemes will lead to increased 
costs and additional interfaces although it is recognised that Producers are used to 
working with compliance schemes. 

79. How do you think in-year cost uncertainty to producers could be 

managed? Q75 

☒ A reserve fund 

☐ In-year adjustment to fees 

☐ Giving individual producers flexibility to choose between options 1) and 2) 

☐ No preference 

☐ Need more information to decide 

 
A reserve fund managed by the Scheme Administrator would minimise the risk to 
producers of in year fluctuations in cost. However producers would need to 
contribute to set up the fund and hence a mechanism to enable this to happen would 
need to be devised and agreed.  

80. Under Option 1, does the proposed initial contract period of 8-10 years 

(2023 to 2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme 

Administrator to adopt a strategic approach to the management and delivery 

of its functions and make the investments necessary to deliver targets and 

outcomes? Q76 

Option 1 - Scheme Administrator delivers all functions. 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract 
length. 
 
This time period is long enough to give stability to all parties involved in the scheme 
allowing confidence in the necessary investment without being so long that it will not 
have the flexibility to grow & adapt with the changing landscape.  

81. Under Option 2, does the proposed initial contract period of 8-10 years 

(2023 to 2030/32) provide the necessary certainty for the Scheme 

Administrator to adopt a strategic approach to the management and delivery 

of its functions and make the investments necessary to deliver targets and 

outcomes? Q77 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



Option 2 - Scheme Administrator delivers functions related to household packaging 
waste and litter. 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please detail what you think would be an appropriate contract 
length. 
 
This time period is long enough to give stability to all parties involved in the scheme 
allowing confidence in the necessary investment without being so long that it will not 
have the flexibility to grow & adapt with the scheme.  

82. Do you agree or disagree with the timeline proposed for the appointment of 

the Scheme Administrator? Q78 

☐ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 
The timeline for launching the procurement process to appointment of the SA seems 
ambitious given the complexity of all that is involved from preparation of the ITT, 
evaluation of bids and mobilisation of the awarded SA. It is not clear how much float 
has been built into the programme to allow for unforeseen hiccups or even a 
potential challenge to the bidding process. However Local Authorities do not get any 
certainty regarding how they will be paid until the SA is in place and as such we do 
want the SA to be appointed as soon as possible. 

83. If the Scheme Administrator is appointed in January 2023 as proposed, 

would it have sufficient time to mobilise in order to make payments to local 

authorities from October 2023? Q79 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no' please provide the reason for your response. 
 
The SA has an incredible amount of administration work to undertake from Jan 2023 
to be able to make any payments with confidence to Local Authorities in Oct 2023. 
Prospective bidders should be asked to submit their own programmes to 
demonstrate how this timeline could realistically be met recognising the number of 
Local Authorities and producers involved & the systems that would need to be 
established in realistic timescales.  

84. Do you agree or disagree with the approval criteria proposed for 

compliance schemes? Q80 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 

85. Should Government consider introducing a Compliance Scheme Code of 

Practice and/or a ‘fit and proper person’ test? Q81 

☐ A Compliance Scheme Code of Practice 

☐ A 'fit and proper person' test for operators of compliance schemes 

☒ Both 

☐ Neither 

☐ Unsure 

 
Please provide the reason for your response. 
 
In order to give confidence in the compliance schemes that are established there 
needs to be a Code of Practice which includes the need for a ‘fit and proper person’ 
test to be an operator of a compliance scheme.  

86. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 

1? Q82 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

87. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed reporting requirements for Option 

2? Q83 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 

Reprocessors and exporters 
 
88. Do you agree or disagree with the proposal that all reprocessors and 

exporters handling packaging waste will be required to register with a 

regulator? Q84 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response and detail any 
exemptions to the registration requirement that should apply. 
 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



This is essential such that the scheme is managed and monitored effectively and all 
packaging is accounted for. 

89. Do you agree or disagree that all reprocessors and exporters should report 

on the quality and quantity, of packaging waste received? Q85 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
This is essential such that the scheme is managed and monitored effectively and all 
packaging is accounted for. 

90. What challenges would there be in reporting on the quality and quantity of 

packaging waste received at the point of reprocessing and/or export? Q86 

 
Please also provide specific detail on any processes, measures and/or costs that 
would be necessary to address these challenges. 
 
Reporting accurately on quality and quantity of packaging is key to ensuring the 
susses of the scheme and flow of payments. Robust systems will need to be put in 
place in order that this is achieved.  

91. Do you think contractual arrangements between reprocessors and material 

facilities or with waste collectors and carriers are a suitable means for 

facilitating the apportionment and flow of recycling data back through the 

system to support Extended Producer Responsibility payment mechanisms, 

incentives and targets? Q87 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and suggest any 
alternative proposals for using the quantity and quality data reported to support 
payments, incentives and targets. 
 
Supply of accurate and timely data is key to having confidence in the EPR system 
and trying to eliminate fraud. Contractual arrangements set out the obligations of the 
parties 

92. Do you agree or disagree that exporters should be required to provide 

evidence that exported waste has been received and processed by an 

overseas reprocessor? Q88 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



If you disagree, please detail why you think exporters should not have to provide this 
evidence. 
 
Ensuring accurate data for all packaging waste that has genuinely been recycled is a 
core principle behind the success if the scheme 

93. Do you agree or disagree that only packaging waste that has achieved end 

of waste status should be able to be exported and count towards the 

achievement of recycling targets? Q89 

☐ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary for waste to 
meet end of waste status prior to export. 
 
It is not clear how this would work in practice – end of waste classification is usually 
obtained by the material going through a treatment process. Hence it is unclear how 
waste that has yet to be actually recycled could be classified as ‘end of waste’ prior 
to export. It could also potentially be open to abuse.  

94. Do you agree or disagree that there should be a mandatory requirement for 

exporters to submit fully completed Annex VII forms, contracts and other audit 

documentation as part of the supporting information when reporting on the 

export of packaging waste? Q90 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think these additional registration 
requirements on exporters are not required. 
 
Ensuring accurate data for all packaging waste that has genuinely been recycled is a 
core principle behind the success if the scheme 

95. Do you agree or disagree that regulators seek to undertake additional 

inspections of receiving sites, via 3rd party operators? Q91 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail why you think it would not be necessary to undertake 
additional inspections and provide any alternative arrangements which could be 
implemented. 
 
This will help to give confidence in the recycling of materials as well as verifying data 
to be accurate. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



 

Compliance and enforcement 
 
96. Do you agree or disagree with the proposed approach to regulating the 

packaging Extended Producer Responsibility system? Q92 

☒ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☐ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please detail any perceived problem or issues with the proposed 
regulation of the system and provide comments on how the system could be 
regulated more effectively. 
 
The Regulator will need to have sufficient resources and funding to be able to 
undertake this role effectively. 

97. Do you have further suggestions on what environmental regulators should 

include in their monitoring and inspection plans that they do not at present? 

Q93 

Please answer here 
 
DASWC has nothing further to add 

98. In principle, what are your views if the regulator fees and charges were 

used for enforcement? Q94 

It seems appropriate that enforcement is covered by these fees 

99. Would you prefer to see an instant monetary penalty for a non-compliance, 

or another sanction as listed below, such as prosecution? Q95 

The level of penalty should be proportionate to the level of non-compliance ranging 
from a fixed penalty notice for minor breaches to prosecution for major offences. 
However it needs to be sufficient to encourage the right behaviour. 

 

Implementation timeline 
 
100. Do you agree or disagree with the activities that the Scheme 

Administrator would need to undertake in order to make initial payments to 

local authorities in 2023 (as described above under Phase 1)? Q96 

☐ Agree 

☐ Disagree 

☒ Neither agree nor disagree 

 
If you disagree, please provide the reason for your response. 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



The activities highlighted appear to all be required in order to make payments to 
Local Authorities from 2023 but it is not clear whether it is comprehensive and 
whether other activities will be required. As part of the ITT submission, bidders 
should be asked to set out all of the activities that are required along with a realistic 
timeline such that this can be assessed.  

101. Do you think a phased approach to the implementation of packaging 

Extended Producer Responsibility, starting in 2023 is feasible and practical? 

Q97 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

☐ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'no', please provide the reason for your response and detail any 
practical issues with the proposed approach. 
 
The timeline is very tight and relies on the necessary legislation being in place and 
the SA being appointed. Ideally it would be preferable if full net costs could be met in 
2023 but realistically this would be very difficult to achieve and hence a prudent 
approach needs to be taken. Making payments to authorities to collect additional 
packaging materials for recycling beyond the core materials needs to be tempered 
with markets being available for those materials – citing packaging film is a good 
example where there are currently very limited markets and little evidence to suggest 
that this will have changed by 2023 or even 2026. 

102. Do you prefer a phased approach to implementing Extended Producer 

Responsibility starting in 2023 with partial recovery of the costs of managing 

packaging waste from households or later implementation, which could enable 

full cost recovery for household packaging waste from the start? Q98 

☒ Phased approach starting in 2023 

☐ Later implementation 

☐ Unsure 

 
Flow of funding to support the cost of managing packaging in the waste stream by 
producers should be forthcoming from 2023 recognising the limitations are such that 
full net cost recovery will not be possible until 2024. However the relationship in 2 tier 
authorities with regards to the payment of recycling credits for packaging waste that 
is recycled will need to be assessed as to what level of funding will still be required to 
support waste collection authorities during the transition period. Budgeting for this 
transition will be difficult. 

103. Of the options presented for reporting of packaging data for 2022 which 

do you prefer? Q99 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

☐ Neither 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



If you answered 'neither' please suggest an alternative approach. 
DASWC has no firm views on this. Option 1 would only include the packaging which 
producers would be obligated to meet full net costs but a complete view of all 
packaging managed by producers would be seen under Option 2 

104. Are there other datasets required to be reported by producers in order for 

the Scheme Administrator to determine the costs to be paid by them in 2023? 

Q100 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Unsure 

 
If you answered 'yes', please detail which datasets will be needed. 
 
DASWC does not have detailed insight into all information that may be required by 
the SA to determine the full costs. 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



Appendix 2 to HIW/21/30 

Consultation on Deposit Return Scheme (England, NI, Wales) 

 
Word template to help organisations formulate responses internally with 
colleagues. 
 

 
 

Introduction 
 
1. What is your name? 
 
Annette Dentith 

2. What is your email address? 
 
If you enter your email address then you will automatically receive an 
acknowledgement email when you submit your response. 
 
Annette.dentith@devon.gov.uk 

3. Which best describes you? 
 

☐ Academic or researcher 

☐ Business representative organisation or trade body 

☐ Charity or social enterprise 

☐ Community group 

☐ Consultancy 

☐ Distributor 

☐ Exporter 

☐ Individual 

☒ Local government 

☐ Non-governmental organisation 

☐ Product designer/ manufacturer/ pack filler 

☐ Packaging designer/ manufacturer/ converter 

☐ Operator/ Reprocessor 

☐ Retailer including online marketplace 

☐ Waste management company 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 

4. What is your organisation? 
 
This is the response of the Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee 
incorporating Devon County Council, Torbay Council, East Devon District Council, 
Exeter City Council, Mid Devon District Council, North Devon Council, South Hams 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/intro/


District Council, Teignbridge District Council, Torridge District Council, and West 
Devon Borough Council.  

5. Would you like your response to be confidential? 
 
If you answered 'yes' please provide your reason. 
No 

6. Given the context of the Covid-19 pandemic we are currently experiencing, 
do you support or oppose our proposals to implement a deposit return 
scheme for drinks containers in 2024? 
 

☐ Support 

☐ Neither support nor oppose 

☒ Oppose 

☐ Not sure 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
We are still doubtful of the need and the potential of a DRS. It is hugely costly, and 
this consultation shows how many possibly unanswerable questions there are and 
potential unintended consequences. We would propose waiting to see how effective 
the EPR is, the impact of the consistency proposals and also how successful the 
Scottish scheme is before a final decision is made on the DRS and its scope.   In the 
context of Covid-19 many businesses will still be reeling from its impact and may not 
have the resilience to take on another legal responsibility. 
 
Shopping habits have changed and returning drinks containers to RVMs with 
potentially some form of social distancing in place will not be attractive. The 
objectives and practical implementation of a DRS need to be reviewed in the light of 
the pandemic.  

7. Do you believe the introduction of a deposit return scheme will have an 
impact on your everyday life? 
 

☒ Yes, a detrimental impact 

☐ No, there will be no impact 

☐ No significant impact 

☐ Some impact but manageable 

☒ Large impact but still manageable 

☐ Large impact and impossible to comply with 

 
As a group of District, Unitary and County Councils the DRS will have a large impact 
on the councils but it is considered this will be manageable. 
 
People who live in flats and properties with a lack of storage space for waste and 
recycling should be considered.  A DRS will mean that these people will have to find 
space for another stream of recycling, to be delivered to the RVM or retail setting. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



8. Have your views towards implementation of a deposit return scheme been 
affected following the economic and social impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic? 
 

☐ Yes - because of economic impacts 

☐ Yes - because of social impacts 

☒ Yes - because of both economic and social impacts 

☐ No 

☐ Not sure 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
Our view that any decision on the DRS should be delayed has not changed. 
However, following the Covid 19 pandemic people will be possibly less inclined to be 
out and about and using RVMs and will also be doing more online shopping. Also, 
some householders will be impacted financially so may perceive themselves as not 
be able to afford drinks at extra 15p a bottle. Also, as above, in the context of Covid-
19 many businesses will still be reeling from its impact and may not have the 
resilience to take on another enforced initiative. These impacts will therefore make 
the introduction of a DRS even more unfavourable in our view. 

Additionally, it is questionable whether the huge expenditure to implement and run a 

DRS will have a significant impact on litter reduction. According to the data supplied, 

up to 58% of litter is made up of cigarette butts, chewing gum and fast food 

packaging which is not addressed under the DRS. 

Kerbside recycling services across the UK have continued throughout the pandemic 

whereas the deliverability of a DRS over the past 12 months would have failed and 

moreover supply chains dependent on material flows would have been significantly 

disrupted. 

There will be lessons to learn in how society and public services responded to the 

Covid-19 pandemic and the lasting impacts it may have on services and behaviour. 

Reviews about this will take time to be completed but could have useful insights in 

relation into how a future DRS might need to be designed to take account of 

changes and lessons learned. 

For example, during the pandemic the tax on carrier bags was rescinded. If a DRS 

had been in operation it is very likely that calls for that to be withdrawn would have 

been made as people would not have been able to visit a RVM to redeem the 

deposit. Under a digital DRS they would have been able to continue to redeem the 

deposit and the whole system would have been more resilient. 

 

Chapter 1: Scope of the Deposit Return Scheme 

9. Do you agree that the cap should be included as part of the deposit item in a 
deposit return scheme for: 
 

☒ Plastic bottle caps on plastic bottles 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.2914163951/


☒ Aluminium bottle caps on glass bottles 

☒ Corks in glass bottles 

☒ Foil on the top of a can/ bottle or used to preserve some drinks 

It should not be a requirement to have a cap but it should be encouraged, from a 
littering and operational point of view.   
 
Communication of this to the public / consumer will need to be considered as will the 
ability of RVMs to identify whether a cap is present or not. 

10. Do you believe we have identified the correct pros and cons for the all-in 
and On-the-Go schemes described above? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
Although we don’t have enough detail we are surprised that the NPV of an All-in 
scheme is so high compared with OTG. And that there are 4x the amount of bottles 
in an AI scheme? 

In the list of disadvantages for an all-in DRS, EPR is described as providing a saving 

to local authorities.  However, the EPR payment to local authorities is intended to 

cover the cost of management and / or disposal of the packaging and is not a source 

of additional income, as the current funding provided to local authorities might 

change or reduce in light of the EPR payments.  If this was the case then local 

authorities would be left out of pocket as a result of the implementation of an all-in 

DRS. 

DASWC believes the introduction of a DRS in 2024 is premature before the EPR 

reforms and consistent collections have been introduced to establish how recycling 

performance changes through these mechanisms.  The impact of Covid-19 and 

people’s change in behaviours and purchasing may also change long term.  All this 

information is crucial to inform the design of a DRS, or even establish if one is 

needed to achieve the targeted recycling for beverage packaging. The DRS 

proposed requires extensive investment and may result in very little gain in total 

recycling in comparison to the required investment amount for the scheme to 

operate.  

Unlike the reforms proposed under the EPR, a DRS only concentrates on the 

collection of material.  No incentive is provided for waste hierarchy principles to be 

encouraged for producers to design packaging to reduce resource use or for 

consumers to change behaviours to reduce and reuse.  Other measures would 

therefore be required in addition to DRS to reduce overall material use. 

The scheme could have the unintended consequence of increased littering where 

some people may leave items in easily accessible and visible locations enabling 

others to collect and redeem the deposit.  There could be an increase in ‘bin diving’ 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



where bins are partly emptied in search of redeemable containers, which again can 

lead to littering. 

One of the key objectives of the scheme is to reduce littering.  Whilst the in-scope 

items are regularly littered, other items such as takeaway cups, food packaging and 

film plastics are also commonly littered.  These items will require to be cleared and 

the costs to authorities of reduced litter does not directly correlate with a reduction in 

cost as crew have to make the same number of journeys and cover the same area to 

collect the litter. 

It is unclear how the carbon savings have been calculated and DASWC is concerned 

they could be an overestimation.  There is reference to calculations being based on 

landfill and energy from waste.  If the landfill proportion has been overestimated this 

will significantly reduce the emission savings.  Similarly, savings have been based 

on closed loop recycling, it is not clear if the material displaced from kerbside 

collections has been factored into this calculation or if is assumed all has been 

diverted from the residual. 

The potential for schemes to be different across nations and varying costs of 

deposits, such as multipacks could be confusing for residents.  Whilst the DMO will 

have responsibility for communications local authorities will inevitably receive direct 

liaison from residents for complaints and queries which will be an additional burden. 

11. Do you foresee any issues if the final scope of a deposit return scheme in 
England and Northern Ireland does not match the all-in decision taken in 
Wales? E.g. an On-the-Go scheme in England and an all-in scheme in Wales. 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 
This scenario doesn’t align with consistency proposals. It would be a lost opportunity 

for less confusion. There might be issues of public confusion in the vicinity of the 

borders and when travelling to holiday accommodation in another country. 

There are also many other things that are not consistent between the nations, 

including recycling and waste collections.  If different approaches are being 

considered, lessons learned from the different Covid-19 lockdown rules in the 

different countries and areas across the UK would be relevant, where confusion on 

which restrictions applied to the area was regularly cited as an issue. 

12. Having read the rationale for either an all-in or On-the-Go scheme, which 
do you consider to be the best option for our deposit return scheme? 
 

☐ All-in 

☒ On-the-go 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 

DASWC believes that the implementation of a DRS should be deferred at this 

moment in time. 

A DRS should be part of an integrated system of resource and waste management 

that does not compete with existing recycling services which have proven to be 

highly successful in delivering significant increases in recycling. Identifying a suitable 

DRS design now is premature before the results of the digital trials in Wales and 

Northern Ireland have been fully evaluated and the outcomes of a reformed EPR and 

consistent collections system are better understood. 

Recycling rates for some materials within scope of the proposed DRS, such as metal 

and potentially glass are already high.  So it is questionable whether there is likely to 

be much net overall gain in the capture of these materials through inclusion in a 

DRS. 

One of the key objectives for the scheme is to reduce littering.  An ‘on the go’ 

scheme will contribute to this whereas an ‘all in’ scheme is likely to have less benefit 

as the items will be more commonly consumed at home and therefore the potential 

for it to be littered very low. 

An ‘on the go’ scheme is a fairer system for residents where there is a greater choice 

in whether to pay a deposit by giving the option to use reusable items from home.  

An ‘all in’ system will also include more frequently purchased items where the 

deposit is therefore much harder to avoid, and so having a greater impact on those 

on lower incomes. 

An ‘on the go’ scheme may also help to encourage waste hierarchy principles, i.e. 

people can avoid having a single use item by taking a reusable item, this is much 

harder for an ‘all in’ system.  This then aligns better with the governments waste 

reduction plans/policies. 

An On the Go DRS would be significantly less costly and should be less confusing 
for the public, because the actions required by them would largely remain the same. 

13. Given the impact Covid-19 has had on the economy, on businesses and 
consumers, and on everyday life, do you believe an On-the-Go scheme would 
be less disruptive to consumers? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Yes because there would be less items involved and they would not be being asked 
to do anything significantly different with their kerbside collection so there would be 
less opportunity for confusion. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



14. Do you agree with our proposed definition of an On-the-Go scheme 
(restricting the drinks containers in-scope to less than 750ml in size and 
excluding multipack containers)? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
If no, how would you change the definition of an On-the-Go scheme? 
 
Multipacks should be included. These packs are often bought by families, and if out 
and about then they would need to be included or could still be potential items for 
littering. 

15. Do you agree that the size of containers suggested to be included under an 
On-the-Go scheme are more commonly consumed out of the home than in it? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Difficult to say 

16. Please provide any information on the capability of Reverse Vending 
Machines to compact glass? 
 
We don’t have any 

17. Do you agree that the scope of a deposit return scheme should be based 
on container material rather than product? 
 

☒ Yes 

☒ No 

 
This is difficult to answer because from a communications point of view collection 
authorities (WCAs) use a combination of both for example plastic bottles. Specific 
materials e.g. HDPE and PET are not necessarily used because this can be too 
technical. In the case of a DRS WCAs cannot say plastic bottles without saying but 
no HDPE. So the scope needs to allow for crystal clear descriptions.  

The DRS scheme should align with EPR and consistent collections policies to be 

clear which products are covered under each respective programme.  If the 

consistent collections requirements and EPR are based on products rather than 

material type, there could be confusion and duplication. The system needs to be 

easy to use, if consumers have a poor understanding of materials in scope and 

regularly have products rejected this could lead to low engagement with the scheme 

and increased complaints to local authorities. 

In general, local authority recycling information details the types of products that can 

be recycled without referring to resin codes as these can be confusing and 

misleading.  If the DRS in scope items are to be determined by the material rather 

than the product this could be confusing to residents and would rely heavily on clear 

labelling and the vast majority of consumers being able to understand the label, 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



including those where English is not the first language.  A poor understanding of 

what materials are in scope could potentially lead to an unintended consequence of 

out-of-scope containers being returned and rejected at RVMs or return points which 

may then be littered rather than returned to the home for correct disposal/recycling. 

18. Do you agree with the proposed list of materials to be included in scope? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
We would propose the addition of cartons and single use cups as these are often 
littered and as such would benefit from being included within a DRS system. 

19. Do you consider there will be any material switching as a result of the 
proposed scope? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 

Anecdotally we would say manufacturers are likely to switch materials if they see a 
financial and/or operational benefit, and  people may also switch products if there is 
an alternative not in scope option to avoid having to pay extra and the nuisance of 
reclaiming a deposit. However this could be managed through modulated fees under 
the EPR scheme.  

 

Chapter 2: Targets 

20. Which of the following approaches do you consider should be taken to 
phase in a 90% collection target over 3 years? 
 

☒ 70% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 80% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 75% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

☐ 80% in year 1, 85% in year 2, 90% in year 3 and thereafter 

21. What collection rate do you consider should be achieved as a minimum for 
all materials after 3 years? 
 

☐ 80% 

☐ 85% 

☒ 90% collection rate should be achieved for all materials 

In order to make it viable there needs to be a 90% collection rate for the materials in 
scope.  

22. Is it reasonable to assume that the same collection targets could be met 
with an on-the-go (OTG) scheme as those proposed for an all-in scheme for in-
scope materials? 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3169791581/


 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 

It is not just the scope of a DRS that could lead to a need for different collection 

targets, but also the timing of its introduction in relation to the implementation of 

EPR, and also in relation to the changes to public services for recycling and waste 

and their timing as a consequence of the Consistency agenda. The likelihood of 

these considerations leading to the requirement for different collection targets is due 

to the variable scale of behaviour change required by producers and consumers that 

they generate. 

23. Who should report on the volumes of deposit return scheme material 
placed on the market in each part of the United Kingdom (England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland) for the proposed deposit return scheme? 
 

☒ The producer/ importer 

☐ The retailer 

☐ Both the producer/ importer and retailer 

 
What would be the implications of obligations to report on volumes of deposit return 
scheme material for producers/ importers and retailers? Please provide evidence to 
support your answer. 
 
This option would best align with the EPR but it is for these groups to respond really. 

24. What evidence will be required to ensure that all material collected is 
passed to a reprocessor for the purpose of calculating the rate of recycling of 
deposit return scheme material? 
 
The existing waste permitting system should be suitable for this purpose as it 
controls the need to report on the tonnages processed at the sites. 

 

Chapter 3: Scheme Governance 
 
25. What length of contract do you think would be most appropriate for the 
successful bidder to operate as the Deposit Management Organisation? 
 

☐ 3 - 5 years 

☐ 5 - 7 years 

☒ 7 - 10 years  

☐ 10 years + 

 
It needs to be long enough to allow time for it to bed in but at the same time not be 
too long in case the contractor is failing to deliver. An extension period could be 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3427548803/


included within the contract and awarded if it was considered that the DMO was 
performing well.  

26. Do you agree that the above issues should be covered by the tender 
process? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered as part of the tender 
process? 
RVMs – clarification of who will operate them and how the operation will work. 

Reporting – what to be reported and when. 

Timescales – need to be included. 

Deposit levels 

27. Do you agree that the issues identified should be monitored as Key 
Performance Indicators? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please list any further issues you believe should be covered by Key Performance 
Indicators? 

Amount collected for recycling either as tonnage or % recycled of in scope materials 

placed on market. 

Unredeemed deposits – how much, how will they be spent? 

Included within a suite of KPIs should be ones that encompass issues related to 

contamination and littering, including around RVMs. KPIs that measure the 

availability of RVMs – how much time they are available for use and not full etc. This 

sort of measure would indicate how well the system is performing and also indicate 

how accessible it is for people to redeem their deposit easily. 

28. Do you agree that the Government should design, develop and own the 
digital infrastructure required to register, and receive evidence on containers 
placed on the market on behalf of the Deposit Management Organisation and 
regulators? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please elaborate on your answer if you wish. 
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



It is not clear why the Government wishes to do this when everything else is being 
passed to the DMO and isn’t consistent with EPR where the Scheme Administrator is 
being asked to do this. Government should either do this for both EPR and DRS or 
neither. 

29. Government will need to understand the needs of users to build digital 
services for deposit return scheme. Would you like your contact details to be 
added to a user panel for deposit return scheme so that we can invite you to 
participate in user research (e.g. surveys, workshops interviews) or to test 
digital services as they are designed and built? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 

Chapter 4: Financial Flows 

30. What is an appropriate measure of small producers for the purposes of 
determining the payment of registration fees? 
 

☐ Taxable Turnover 

☒ Drinks containers placed on the market 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 

31. Is a high level of unredeemed deposits funding the scheme problematic? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
It will mean the scheme is not working. And that maybe people don’t understand or 
can’t make the journey to get a refund. It may mean that targets are not met as the 
material is not flowing through DRS or EPR.  

32. Which option to treatment of unredeemed deposits do you support? 
 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

33. With option 2, do you foresee any unintended consequences of setting a 
minimum percentage of the net costs of the deposit return scheme that must 
be met through the producer fee? 
 
Are there any unintended consequences of option 2? 
 
Not sure 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.3606262140/


34. If a floor is set do you consider that this should be set at: 
 

☐ 25% of net costs 

☐ 33% of net costs 

☐ 50% of net costs 

☒ Other 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
It is very hard to form a view on the limited information provided, but if a percentage 

approach is to be used then consideration should be given to some sort of variable 

figure based on the operational aspects of the DRS over time, for example if more 

items are included in the scope of a DRS at a future date or items are removed, or if 

the amount of material in scope or the costs relating to them changes abruptly. 

35. Do you agree that any excess funds should be reinvested in the scheme or 
spent on other environmental causes? 
 

☒ Reinvested in the scheme 

☒ Environmental causes 

Unredeemed deposits should also be included as subset of EPR, unless EPR will 
fully fund the costs of dealing with the cost of materials in the scope of DRS that are 
not collected.  

The use of excess funds for Environmental Causes should be linked to themes allied 
to the purpose of the DRS as set out by Government, namely ‘to reduce the amount 
of littering, boost recycling levels for relevant material, offer the enhanced possibility 
to collect high quality materials in greater quantities and promote recycling through 
clear labelling and consumer messaging. Additionally, introducing a deposit return 
scheme could help incentivise moves to push more material up the waste hierarchy 
and move towards a more circular economy.’ 

While the DRS is embedding it will be important to prioritise reinvestment to ensure 
the smooth and effective running of the DRS. 

36. What should be the minimum deposit level set in legislation? 
 

☐ 10p 

☒ 15p 

☐ 20p 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 

37. Do you agree that there should be a maximum deposit level set in 
legislation? 
 

☒ Yes 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



☐ No 

 

☒ 30p 

☐ 40p 

☐ 50p 

☐ Other 

 
If other, please specify. 

38. Recognising the potentially significant deposit costs consumers could pay 
on a multipack purchase, how best can we minimise the impact of the scheme 
on consumers buying multipacks? 
 
There should be no difference, the deposit should be applied per item. Purchasers 
will get their money back. Communication will be key such that consumers 
understand how much deposit they will get back on return of all of the multipack 
items. 

39. Do you agree with our approach to letting the Deposit Management 
Organisation decide on whether to adopt a fixed or variable deposit level, 
particularly with regards to multipacks? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
There should be no difference in the deposit level for multipacks or single purchase 
items. 

 

Chapter 5: Return Points 

40. Do you agree that all retailers selling in-scope drinks containers should be 
obligated to host a return point, whether it is an all-in or on-the-go (OTG) 
deposit return scheme? 
 

☐ Yes  

☒ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
There should be a de minimus based on capacity otherwise very small retailers 
could have problems with this, not only in terms of health and safety. 

41. Given the proposed extensive distribution and availability of return points 
for consumers to return bottles to, do you think customers would be likely to 
experience delays / inconveniences in returning drinks containers? 
 

☒ Yes 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4004598866/


☐ No 

 
If so, how long or how frequently would such delays be likely to arise for? 
 
It is impossible to determine the answer to this with any certainty. Maybe at smaller 
retailers or in very popular locations at certain times of the day. 
 
It is almost inevitable there will be delays at some point for high demand return 

points such as supermarkets, especially during busy periods.  The delays will also 

largely be determined by the number of items being returned.  As it is unknown what 

consumer behaviour is likely to be, i.e. will larger number of items be stored before 

being returned or more regularly it is unknown what delays may be incurred.  This 

also relates to potential changes in behaviours post Covid-19 and the incorporation 

of a digital solution.  These behaviours and scheme design need to be better 

understood before finalising the DRS scheme and number of collection points 

required. 

42. Do you have a preference, based on the 3 options described, on what the 
schemes approach to online takeback obligations should be? 
 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

 
Please explain your answer. 
Online retailers have to be included but it seems reasonable that not every small 
business should be obligated although in an extreme case the customer may not use 
them if they can’t get their money back easily. DRS materials will still be able to be 
placed in the kerbside for collection.  

43. Do you agree with the proposed criteria for the calculation of the handling 
fee? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No  

 
Would you propose any additional criteria are included for the calculation of the 
handling fee? 

The explanation of the handling fee is that a retailer will receive a handling fee ‘to 

compensate them for any costs incurred in hosting a return point’ and a list of criteria 

is given and a statement that the ‘calculation and modelling’ of the fee will be left to 

the DMO; this approach creates a risk that some retailers may lose out where costs 

are not paid on actuals, and as such some sort of appeals procedure should be 

allowed for – to ensure that the intention is fully respected that any retailer should be 

compensated for ‘any costs incurred in hosting a return point’. 

44. Please tick which exemptions you agree should be included under the 
scheme: 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



 

☒ Close proximity 

☒ Breach of safety 

 
Any further comments you wish to make. 
 
There should be more reasons for exemptions e.g. capacity (not related to health 
and safety)  
 
The proximity exemption whilst we agree to it could become very complicated and 
subjective. Queues might form at the larger premises. 

45. Please can you provide any evidence on how many small and micro sized 
retail businesses we might likely expect to apply for an exemption to hosting a 
return point, on the grounds of either close proximity to another return point 
or on the compromise of safety considerations? 
 
N/A 

46. Do you think obligations should be placed on retailers exempted from 
hosting a return point to display specific information informing consumers of 
their exemption? 
 

☒ Signage to demonstrate they don't host a return point 

☒ Signage to signpost consumers to the nearest return point 

 
Anything else? 

47. Do you agree with our rationale for not requiring retailers exempted on the 
basis of a breach of safety not to be required to signpost to another retailer? 
 

☒ Yes  

☒ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
In terms of having to signpost to a competitor the answer would be yes, but at the 
same time, surely it’s the same for any exempted retailer so they should all have to 
sign post. A better idea would be to have retailers required to have a sticker in their 
window to either say they accept in scope containers or they don’t. This might save 
issues occurring once a householder is in the shop. 

48. How long do you think exemptions should be granted for until a review 
date is required to ensure the exemption is still required? 
 

☐ 1 year  

☒ 3 years 

☐ 5 years or longer 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



49. Do you think the scheme could benefit from technological solutions being 
incorporated as a method of return, alongside reverse vending machines and 
manual return points? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No  

 
There ought to be a digital solution for this scheme in this age of technology.  
We believe that technology could benefit a DRS but as we have seen recently from 

Track and Trace that a well thought out, researched, piloted and fully tested solution 

would need to be developed before being implemented on a national scale in order 

to avoid unintended consequences.  This supports our statement that we believe that 

DRS should be delayed until EPR is fully embedded.  We do not think that enough 

research has been done on technological solutions.  There is also the issue that this 

solution would move the flow of the material from the DRS collections to the kerbside 

and if this was to be pursued, local authorities would need more information, so that 

they could plan effectively.  Littering could also be increased as an effect of this is 

more people might rummage through recycling containers looking for unredeemed 

deposits.  Also once scanned, the bottle could be placed into the residual waste 

instead of the recycling, if the person did not have environmental motivations. 

50. How could a digital deposit return scheme solution be integrated into 
existing waste collection infrastructure? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
A pilot would assist in determining how this could be achieved. This would need to 
be delivered at no extra cost to the Local Authorities 

51. What are the potential fraud control measures a digital deposit return 
scheme could bring? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
DASWC is not in a position to respond to this but would suggest that digital schemes 
that are already in place outside of the UK be researched and lessons learnt. 

52. Do you think a digital deposit return scheme could ensure the same level 
of material quality in the returns compared to a tradition return to retail model, 
given containers may not be returned via a reverse vending machine or 
manual return point where there is likely to be a greater scrutiny on quality of 
the container before being accepted? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



The key issue would be that the householder could still place the container into the 
residual bin unless there was a mechanism to prevent this. There could be a degree 
of contamination in wheeled bin co mingled collections, but in Devon all but one of 8 
districts are kerbside sort so this is not such an issue. 

53. If the digital deposit return scheme system can be integrated into the 
existing waste collection infrastructure would its implementation and running 
costs be lower? 
 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
We are not in a position to answer this. It partially depends on whether RVMs and 
other return facilities had already been set up incurring significant cost and the 
impact on those that are already in place. 

54. Do you support the proposal to introduce a new permitted development 
right for reverse vending machines, to support the ease of implementation for 
the scheme? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Do you have any amendments or additional parameters you would propose are 
reflected in the permitted development right? 

In relation to a reverse vending based DRS, the use of permitted development rights 
would streamline processes and reduce costs for businesses and local authorities, 
however, the upper limit proposed of 80 square metres appears too high, the 15m 
sounds too close and the exclusion of location types needs to be expanded from the 
short list of SSSIs and the curtilage of listed buildings and scheduled monuments. 

 

Chapter 6: Labelling 

55. Do you agree that the following should be part of a mandatory label for 
deposit return scheme products? 
 

☒ An identification marker that can be read by reverse vending machines and 

manual handling scanners. 

☒ A mark to identify the product as part of a deposit return scheme. 

☒ The deposit price 

But if a digital DRS is taken forward this may not be enough for local authorities to 

manage that material as part of the DRS.  Unless technology is already developed to 

guarantee every container is identified on a sort line, this may not be sufficient for 

local authorities to ensure that they were recompensed correctly. 

56. Are you aware of further measures that can be taken to reduce the 
incidence and likelihood of fraud in the system? 
 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4179061498/


No but Government could learn from other DRS schemes already in operation 
outside the UK. 

57. Do you agree with our proposals to introduce mandatory labelling, 
considering the above risk with regards to containers placed on the market in 
Scotland? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 

Discussion needs to be had with Scotland to encourage them to have mandatory 
labelling requirements too. 

58. Do you consider the risk of incorrectly labelled products entering the 
markets of England, Wales or Northern Ireland via Scotland to be a significant 
risk? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 
 
It seems likely but we have no evidence to support this. 

59. Do you consider leaving any labelling requirements to industry to be a 
better option than legislating for mandatory labelling requirements? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please explain your answer. 

This could lead to different labelling for different retailers. There needs to be absolute 
consistency and therefore legislation for mandatory labelling. 

60. Are you aware of any other solutions for smaller producers who may not 
currently label their products? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 
No, it is not our area of expertise 

61. We believe 18 months is a sufficient period of time for necessary labelling 
changes to be made. Do you agree? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



Although it depends when the period starts in the scheme of the DRS and when 
producers have certainty about what is actually in scope and what is required with 
regard to labelling 

62. Will your processes change as a result of mandatory labelling? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No  

☐ Don't know 

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
As local authorities we are used to completing collections based on what is 

presented for collection rather than what is on the label. 

63. Do you agree that our proposed approach to labelling will be able to 
accommodate any future changes and innovation? 
 

☐ Yes 

☐ No 

☒ Don't know 

 
Are you aware of any upcoming technology in the field of labelling? 
 
Any approach will need to accommodate future changes. All schemes are subject to 
review and change including labelling. 

 

Chapter 7: Local authorities and local councils 

64. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to separate deposit return 
scheme containers either themselves or via agreements with material recovery 
facilities to regain the deposit value? 
 

☐ Yes 

☒ No  

 
Please explain your answer. 
 
Without significant investment this would not be possible.  Local authorities will 

require space and infrastructure to deal with a different DRS material stream and will 

need to invest in any technology (if it exists) that would help to sort the materials, or 

invest in staff to do the task manually. Glass in particular is often broken and hence it 

would be impossible to reclaim deposits on it.  

65. Do you agree that local authorities will be able to negotiate agreements 
with material recovery facilities to ensure gate fees reflect the increased 
deposit values in waste streams or a profit sharing agreement on returned 
deposit return scheme containers was put in place? 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4399695754/


☐ Yes 

☒ No  

Please explain your answer. 
 
This might be possible, depending on the contract or agreement.  We would not be 

able to answer this until the full extent of DRS and EPR on the materials markets in 

the UK are realised.  There is a risk that the removal of the DRS materials will 

negatively affect the quality and value of the remaining materials (eg PET removed 

from HDPE bottles and pots, tubs and trays).  This could then affect EPR payments 

in terms of showing that an effective and efficient service is being delivered. 

66. In order to minimise the risk of double payments from the Deposit 
Management Organisation to local authorities, where should data be collected 
regarding the compositional analysis to prevent the containers then being 
allowed to be redeemed via return points? 
 
Local Authorities work with Government and are extremely unlikely to seek to abuse 
the system.  
 
Waste composition analysis would be needed on litter bin waste, dropped litter 

collection, recycling collection and residual kerbside collected household waste.  The 

recycling rate will also need to be considered.  Sampled waste / recycling would also 

need to consider socio-demographics (e.g. properties sampled) as well as seasonal 

differences (e.g. litter). 

The principle of Option 2 sounds reasonable if material cannot be reasonably 

separated out, although the payment mechanism and associated costs for an 

‘efficient and effective collection’ and the various payment groups would require 

further consultation and agreement.  There should also be capacity for an appeals 

system if a local authority can demonstrate it has been inappropriately categorised or 

the payments do not reflect the costs incurred. 

It is noted that an assumption has been made that a proportion of the 70% of 

recycling of drinks beverage packaging currently recycled through the kerbside 

would continue once the DRS material has been removed.  This is unlikely to remain 

constant as residents which currently recycle well may be more likely to use the DRS 

return options.  The 7% estimation for the kerbside recycling may therefore not be 

representative if the high DRS rate of 90% is achieved, furthermore the proportion in 

the residual could also be higher. Further modelling and compositional analysis once 

the DRS system is in place would be required to ensure LA payments were 

representative of the materials being collected. 

67. How difficult do you think option 3 would be to administer, given the need 
to have robust compositional analysis in place? 
 
Please explain your answer. 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



There is a danger that Local Authorities’ reporting burden may increase significantly.  
Local Authorities work with Government and are extremely unlikely to seek to abuse 
the system.  

68. What option do you think best deals with the issue of deposit return 
scheme containers that continue to end up in local authority waste streams? 
 

☐ Option 1 

☒ Option 2 

☐ Option 3 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 
 
Option 2 presents local authorities with a fairer, more stable and certain position.  

 

Chapter 8: Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement 

69. Are there any other producer obligations you believe the Environmental 
Regulators should be responsible for monitoring and enforcing? 
 
None that we are aware of 
 
Please explain your answer. 

70. Are local authorities (through the role Trading Standards and the Primary 
Authority Scheme) best placed to enforce certain retailer obligations? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
To what extent will local authorities be able to add on monitoring and enforcement 
work for the deposit return scheme to existing duties they carry out with retailers? 
 
Local Authorities already work with retailers. However, if this burden was placed on 

the Local Authorities it would require significant additional resource. 

71. In addition to those in the table, are there any other types of breaches not 
on this list that you think should be? 
 
Not that we are aware of  

72. Are there any other vulnerable points in the system? 
 
If so, what? 
Not that we are aware of 

73. Do you see a role for the Deposit Management Organisation to seek 
compliance before escalating to the Regulator? 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4571938160/


Yes the DMO should be responsible for encouraging compliance and the system 
should be designed such that this is achieved.  

74. Do you agree with the position set out regarding enforcement response 
options? 
 

☒ Yes 

☐ No 

 
If no, please explain your answer. 

 

Chapter 9: Implementation Timeline 

75. Do you have any comments on the delivery timeline for deposit return 
scheme? 
 
Please pose any views on implementation steps missing from the above? 

The anticipated timescale is ambitious and does not reflect the new ‘normal’ in a 

COVID world. DASWC would prefer that EPR and Consistency are introduced and 

their impact monitored such that the need for a DRS is reviewed and introduced only 

if deemed necessary.  

76. How long does the Deposit Management Organisation need from 
appointment to the scheme going live, taking into account the time required to 
set up the necessary infrastructure? 
 

☐ 12 months 

☐ 14 months 

☐ 18 months 

 
Any other (please specify) 
If other, please specify. 
Please provide evidence to support your response. 

Given the complexity of all that is involved and depending on whether it is all -in or 
on the go will determine how long is required – we cannot give a view but would 
suggest that a programme is required to be submitted by the DMO as part of the 
tendering process and then this becomes contractually binding. 

77. Depending on the final decision taken on the scope of the scheme in 
England and Northern Ireland – all-in or on-the-go – what, if any, impact does 
this have on the proposed implementation period? 
 
We would assume that OTG would be likely to have a shorter implementation period 

 

Chapter 10: Summary Approach to Impact Assessment 

78. Do you agree with the analysis presented in our Impact Assessment? 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.4830626978/
https://consult.defra.gov.uk/environment/consultation-on-introducing-a-drs/consultation/subpage.2021-02-22.5028524427/


 

☐ Yes 

☒ No 

 
Please briefly state the reasons for your response. Where available, please share 
evidence to support your view. 

The IA includes Scotland.  It’s is also based on the old timescale.   

The 90% target includes 5% from local authority collections, based on current 

kerbside recycling rate, but those that don’t take part in a DRS are perhaps more 

likely to be poor recyclers so less likely to recycle and more likely to put in residual. 

If the digital solution is to be incorporated into the scheme design, this represents a 

significant change in how the scheme would be managed. This option should 

therefore be fully evaluated as it is likely to substantially change the impacts/costs.  

Without this information the impact assessment is incomplete. 

We do not agree with the analysis presented on littering and there is unlikely to be a 

cost saving related to operational aspects of litter collection.  The impact assessment 

makes a direct correlation between the reduction in litter and cost savings in terms of 

manual sweeping and picking and emptying bins. DASWC does not believe this is an 

accurate reflection as staff will be required to cover the same area to litter pick and 

bins will probably have to be emptied with the same frequency.  Similarly, it is 

unlikely there will be a reduction in transport movement either. 

As with the first consultation in 2019 DASWC has grave concerns about the values 

attached to litter disamenity in the impact assessment. This is especially relevant 

given how much impact this then has on the cost analysis put forward as justification 

for a DRS. 

It is not clear to what extent post-pandemic behaviours/consumption patterns and 

limitations to return points have been incorporated into modelling. If as expected 

some of the behaviours observed during 2020 and 2021, which are reflected in 

kerbside yields and compositions, become sustained this could have a significant 

bearing on the feasibility of a DRS as currently modelled. These changes could 

make a digital DRS more effective.  

It is difficult to comment fully as the scale and cost of key scheme requirements such 

as compositional analysis, monitoring of return points differ across the scenarios. 

The information presented is not of sufficient detail to determine the impact of key 

scheme variables presented throughout the consultation. 

The current impact assessment takes no account of the changes in consumption, 

packaging use, and waste collection services that the pandemic has brought about. 

Fewer drinks containers will be bought for consumption in offices etc. More drinks 

containers are now placed into household recycling systems rather than office and 

transport node residual waste containers. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



The changes that have and will continue to be brought about by the pandemic 

fundamentally change the model of a DRS in the UK and the assumptions that the 

impact assessment was based on. It is no longer fit for purpose in a post Covid-19 

situation. 

We would also question if a full equalities impact assessment has been undertaken 

for a DRS based on RVMs. There are likely to be accessibility concerns for some 

members of the public and it could be that people with access difficulties, for 

whatever reason, are unduly impacted by a DRS based on RVM. People will be 

unable to avoid the deposit but might not then be able to reclaim their money. 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



HIW/21/31 
Devon Authorities Strategic Waste Committee 

16 June 2021 

 
Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay 
 
Report of the Chief Officer Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste 
 
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to consideration and 
determination by the Committee before taking effect. 
 
Recommendation:  It is recommended that the Committee 
(a) notes the results of the public consultation; 
(b) agrees the proposed reduction to the waste prevention target of waste to 

400kg/head/year by 2030; 
(c) endorses the Strategy and recommends it for final approval to the Devon 

Authorities Strategic Waste Committee (DASWC) partner authorities. 
 
1. Summary 
 
This report summarises the consultation response to the draft Resource and Waste 
Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay and proposes amendments for 
inclusion in the final strategy. 
 
2. Introduction 
 
The draft Resource and Waste Strategy for Devon and Torbay was published for 
consultation on March 3rd 2021 for a 6 week public consultation. 214 responses 
were received and they are summarised here Summary of responses.  The detailed 
responses are summarised at Appendix I. 
 
3.  Government Consultations 
 
The Government is completing its consultations on the Extended Producer 
Responsibility (EPR), Deposit Return Scheme (DRS) and Consistency in Household 
& Business Recycling proposals in the next month.  This Strategy has been 
developed with the Government’s proposals in mind, but until Government has taken 
the responses into consideration and the final proposals are confirmed with draft 
legislation it is not possible to know with confidence how the Government legislation 
will affect this Strategy.  As soon as the Government confirms its position this 
Strategy can be reviewed to see what changes if any are required.  
 
4.  Proposed amendments to this Strategy 
 
The majority of the respondents were supportive of the proposals in the Strategy so 
no significant amendments are proposed.  As can be seen in the response summary 
and Appendix I, the major areas of concern include: 
 

 To stretch proposed targets for reducing, reusing and recycling  

 Working with businesses, manufacturers, retailers and government to reduce 
packaging waste (particularly plastic waste) throughout the supply chain 

Page 73

Agenda Item 8

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fforms.office.com%2FPages%2FAnalysisPage.aspx%3Fid%3DgzehjWjLP0S7S5l_d_1b-zUkf9CFTtNPqENTWc2GualUQVoyWEdDTVFUWE1BOThOWkRCTjlUWVNFWC4u%26AnalyzerToken%3DgmIfpQuoqpblYBPjnSwgxDv5EpbLkTPR&data=04%7C01%7Cannette.dentith%40devon.gov.uk%7Cbf70c54262e14cd17d4208d91458ce66%7C8da13783cb68443fbb4b997f77fd5bfb%7C0%7C0%7C637563193916967162%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=JsprWQuR%2BcbSiKENXnBIY1Coe9FtkEX%2FmP8mpbLOBW4%3D&reserved=0


 To be cautious about electric vehicles in terms of their cost and carbon impacts 

 Focus on economic, efficient and carbon friendly solutions 

 Focus on education and community engagement  

 To promote further reuse and repair in the community and at Household Waste 
Recycling Centres (HWRCs) 

 
As above, some were keen on stretching the proposed targets for reducing, reusing 
and recycling.  It is considered that the targets are already ambitious.  
 
Recycling targets are in line with the EU Circular Economy Package which the UK 
government has pledged to comply with.  These targets will be difficult to achieve 
depending to some extent on the final details of the EPR, DRS and consistency 
proposals and how recycling develops as a consequence of these.  The reuse target 
is limited to that achievable at the HWRCs due to the local authorities not having 
either the data from charity shops and other community reuse activities.  The food 
waste reduction target is in line with the Courtauld agreement target.  
 
However, the waste prevention target of waste collected per head per year by 2030 
of 416kg could be reduced further since various initiatives either local ones or those 
to be initiated by the Government could help to reduce waste arisings.  It is therefore 
proposed that this target be reduced to 400kg/head/year by 2030. 
 
Many of the points made regarding packaging should be addressed in the 
Government’s EPR proposals whereby producers of packaging will pay for its 
recycling and disposal thereby incentivising producers to reduce their packaging 
and/or increase its recyclability.  The proposed tax on plastic with less than a 30% 
recycled content should also drive down the production of virgin plastic products and 
encourage recycling. 
 
The local authorities are bringing in electric vehicles where appropriate and in a 
timely manner e.g. as vehicles approach replacement, but they will certainly be 
considering the economic and environmental cost benefits as well as developing 
technologies as they approach this transition. 
 
It is pleasing that the respondees are concerned that local authorities follow 
effective, efficient and carbon friendly policies.  These are all concerns that the local 
authorities are equally determined to take account of. 
 
Community engagement, education and promoting reuse and repair are all 
fundamental elements of the Strategy & will continue to be supported by DASWC 
authorities. 
 
5. Financial Considerations 
 
This Committee’s budget contributes to achieving elements of the Strategy, in 
addition to each authority’s own budgets contributing to the overall aims and targets 
of the Strategy.  An allocation is proposed for a residual waste analysis in 2022 from 
this Committee’s 2021/22 and 2022/23 budgets. 
 
 

Page 74

Agenda Item 8



6. Legal Considerations 
 
There are no legal issues arising in relation to this report. 
 
7. Environmental Impact Considerations (Including Climate Change) 
 
The Strategy is focussed on reducing, reusing and recycling waste all of which will 
lead to reduced environmental impact.  There is also a focus on reducing the carbon 
impact of the waste management services with the aim of contributing to the net zero 
carbon targets. 
 
8. Equality Considerations 
 
An EINA was completed to accompany the consultation (see Impact Assessment of 
Resource and Waste Management Strategy 2020) 
 
9. Risk Management Considerations 
 
The DASWC Risk Register will be amended in light of the agreed recommendation. 
There are no significant risks associated with the Strategy. 
 
10. Public Health Impact 
 
There are no impacts to public health identified. 
 
11. Summary/Conclusions/Reasons for recommendations and next steps 
 
The consultation response was generally supportive of the draft Strategy.  An 
amendment has been made to the waste prevention target.  The Strategy provides 
the basis for the management of local authority collected waste across Devon and 
Torbay to 2030.  Its objectives are aimed at reducing waste, reducing the carbon 
impact of managing waste and conserving natural resources.  By working together, 
the local authorities, their partners and the public will ensure a sustainable future for 
waste management in Devon and Torbay.  Each DASWC authority will now be 
asked to approve the Strategy at their next appropriate committee after which the 
Strategy will be published. 
 

Meg Booth 
Chief Officer Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste  

 
Electoral Divisions:  All 
 
Local Government Act 1972:  List of Background Papers 
Contact for enquiries:  Annette Dentith 
Tel No:  01392 383000 
Room:  County Hall, Exeter EX2 4QD 
 
Background Paper   Date    File Ref. 
 
Nil 
Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay - Final

Page 75

Agenda Item 8

https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/PublicDocs/Corporate/ETfnDIQjNCZHuSui7YHFKKwBr4b1upauMLwomN-_MPnX1Q?e=FcRKsA
https://devoncc.sharepoint.com/:b:/s/PublicDocs/Corporate/ETfnDIQjNCZHuSui7YHFKKwBr4b1upauMLwomN-_MPnX1Q?e=FcRKsA


Appendix I  
To HIW/21/31 

 

 
 

Carbon Impact 
 

Dealing with waste inevitably leads to the release of greenhouse gases. However, with little 
landfill of domestic waste occurring in Devon now this is much reduced. Nevertheless, there are 
impacts from transporting waste, creating energy from waste and even from recycling waste. The 
impacts are different depending on the material and the method of processing. The Devon and 
Torbay Carbon Plans are proposing a target of net-zero carbon by 2050 and the management of 
waste plays an important part in this. See Strategy section 5.1 (Climate Change and Carbon 
Impact) and Appendix 4. 

 
1. Do you agree that in order to contribute to net-zero carbon for Devon and Torbay by 
2050 at the latest the focus should be on: 

 
 Yes No Don’t know 

 
a. Reducing, reusing and 
recycling more textiles, 
plastics, metals/Waste 
Electronic and Electrical 
Equipment, food and 
paper/card? 
 

98.6% 1.4% 0% 

 
b. Looking specifically at 
how to reduce the plastics in 
the residual waste stream? 
 

95.2% 3.8% 1.0% 

 
c. Considering options for 
utilising heat for the Energy 
Recovery Facilities which 
will need to be commercially 
viable? 
 

83.1% 5.8% 11.1% 

 
d. Reviewing carbon capture 
technology as it develops 
further? 
 

82.4% 6.8% 10.7% 

 
  

 
Resource and Waste Management Strategy for 
Devon and Torbay – Consultation 

Appendix I  
To HIW/21/31 

Page 76

Agenda Item 8



2. Please make any comments you have on your responses to Q1 a - d in the box 
provided. 

 

 
 

3. Do you agree the local authorities should increase the use of carbon-friendly fuelled 
vehicles for transporting waste e.g. electric, hydrogen, over the period of the Strategy? 

 

 
 

4. Please make any comments you have on Q3 in the box provided. 
 

 
 

5. Do you agree that local authorities should develop opportunities for local reprocessing 
with stakeholders by 2030? 

 

 
  

The 84 comments focussed on: 
 

 The need to work with businesses to reduce packaging waste, particularly plastic 

 The need to reduce, reuse, recycle and repair 

 To reduce use of plastic and to recycle all sorts of plastic 

 To reduce co2 at source, and plant trees rather than CC by engineering 

 2050 is too late 

 ERF not the solution, needs to be efficient if we do use it and needs to be wound 
down eventually 

 Government lead required 

 
Yes   89% 
 
No   7% 
 
Don’t know  4% 

The 68 comments focussed on: 

 Creating another problem in terms of battery disposal, the use of rare metals and 
minerals in battery production and the need for whole life carbon analysis 

 There was concern about the potential costs and the need for an economic solution 
only replacing as vehicles come to end of life 

 Hydrogen, LPG and HVO were mooted as alternative fuels 

 Need to reduce waste miles 

 Need to lead the way, before 2050 

 Question of whether electric vehicles would cope with rurality 

 
Yes   74% 
 
No   3% 
 
Don’t know  23%  
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



6. Please make any comments you have on Q5 in the box provided. 
 

 
 

Reducing, reusing and recycling waste 
 
The focus of this strategy is on reducing, reusing and recycling waste. The less 
waste there is to manage the less the carbon and environmental impact, and the 
lower the costs. The waste collected figure for Devon includes the district council 
collections and the waste brought to the County Council’s Household Waste 
Recycling Centres. The councils encourage and help residents to reduce their waste 
through community engagement using social media, leaflets, roadshows for 
example, but service design and consistency can also assist residents to use the 
correct bins. See Strategy sections 7.0 (Waste Prevention) and 9.1 (Recycling).  
 

7. Do you agree with the target for reducing the waste collected per head to 416kg per 
year by 2030 (from 444kg/head in 2019/20 for Devon, and 433kg/head for Torbay): 

 

 
 

8. Please make any comments you have on Q7 in the box provided. 
 

 
  

The 61 comments focussed on: 
 

 Unfortunately, a number of people did not understand the phrase local 
reprocessing and who the stakeholders might be 

 Only to be developed if this is more economic and efficient and has a reduced 
carbon impact 

 Can this be implemented sooner than 2030 

 Essential to have community hubs in rural areas for jobs and to retain value 
locally 

 
Yes   67% 
 
No   19% 
 
Don’t know  14% 
 
 
 

The 98 comments focussed on: 
 

 The overwhelming majority of responses suggested that this target was not low 
enough 

 Need to focus on packaging, at manufacture and retail levels 

 Make recycling easier, particularly providing good lids 

 Reduced collections could result in fly tipping 

 Focus on holiday accommodation and tourists 

Page 78

Agenda Item 8



9. If you agree with the target for reducing the waste collected per head to 416kg per year 
by 2030 (from 444kg/head in 2019/20 for Devon and 433kg/head for Torbay), do you agree 
that this should be achieved through the following means? 

 
 Yes No Don’t know 

 
Community engagement 
 

 
89.5% 

 
2.1% 

 
8.4 % 

 
Operational service 
policies e.g. reducing 
residual waste collection 
capacity? 

 
52.2% 

 
34.1%   

 
13.7%  

 
Other (please specify) 
 

 
62.7% 

 
4.5% 

 
32.8 % 

 
10. Please make any comments you have on Q9 in the box provided: 

 

 
 

11. Do you agree with the target to achieve a 20% reduction in food waste by 2025 from a 
2015 baseline? 

 
Food waste currently makes up 30% (Devon) and 23% (Torbay) of the residual 
(black bag/bin) rubbish, even with the majority of councils offering a food waste 
collection service. The councils will continue to work with residents to help them to 
reduce their food waste. See Strategy section 7.2.1 (Food Waste) 
 

 
  

The 95 comments focussed on: 
 

 Reducing packaging throughout the supply chain, working with businesses and 
government 

 The potential for reduced collections resulting in fly tipping and vermin issues 

 Education and community engagement are essential, including working in 
schools 

 Enforcement and penalties are important measures to reduce waste 

 A small number didn’t understand what operational service policies means  

 
Yes   85% 
 
No   10% 
 
Don’t know  4% 

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



12. Please make any comments you have on Q11 in the box provided. 
 

 
 

13. Do you agree with the target to increase the amount of waste reused (from 0.75% in 
2019/20) to 2% by 2025 and 5% by 2030? 

 
Reuse happens in many ways, for example via charity shops, online and between 
friends and family. Preventing items from becoming waste by reusing them reduces 
carbon impact, reduces the use of finite resources, and offers job and skills sharing 
opportunities in upcycling and repair, not to mention encouraging community 
cohesion. The councils have no measure of the majority of reuse that happens in 
communities but can influence reuse through the Household Waste Recycling 
Centre shops, community engagement and by offering support to repair cafes and 
other reuse activities. See Strategy section 8.0 (Reuse).  
 

 Yes No Don’t know 

 
(a) 2% by 2025 
 

 
85.4% 

 
7% 

 
7.5% 

 
 b) 5% by 2030 

 
88% 

 
6%   

 
6% 

 
14. Please make any comments you have on Q13 in the box provided. 

 

 
  

The 95 comments focussed on: 
 

 The target needing to be higher 

 Working with supermarkets, retailers and the whole supply chain to reduce 
promotions such as Bogofs which increase food waste 

 Work with householders to educate on reducing food waste 

 Promote composting and offer subsidised bins 

 Encourage food redistribution  

The 74 comments focussed on: 
 

 The need for higher targets 

 The need to promote reuse services, repair shops, community hubs 

 More reuse at HWRCs and more accessible centres 

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



15. Do you agree with the target to recycle at least 60% of household waste by 2025 and 
65% by 2035? 

 
Devon has a high recycling rate of 56.6% which includes the district councils. 
Torbay’s is lower at 40.4%. The average recycling rate across England is 44.4% with 
the highest being 58.5% in Oxfordshire. Recycling rates have been relatively 
stagnant for some time despite the best efforts of local authorities. The EU Circular 
Economy Package target of 65% by 2035 is supported by the Government hence the 
proposed target at Q8 and the interim target at Q7. A key to higher recycling rates is 
consistency across authorities and expanding the range of materials collected where 
economically and operationally viable. See Strategy section 9.0 (Recycling). 
 

 Yes No Don’t know 

 
60% by 2025 
 

 
88.4% 

 
6.3% 

 
5.3%  

 
65% by 2035 

 
84.8% 

 
8.2%  

 
7.0% 

 
16. Please make any comments you have on Q15 in the box provided. 

 

 
 

17. Do you agree with the proposal to collect a consistent range of recyclable materials by 
2023 in line with Government policy with the addition of a broader range by 2030? 

 
The Government is proposing to make it mandatory for local councils to collect 
paper, card, food, metal, glass, and mixed plastics by 2023. The more consistent 
collections are the better the quality and quantity of recyclate and the more effective 
communications can be across Devon and Torbay. The Devon authorities will also 
consider which other materials they could all collect, and how else they could be 
more consistent across the county. See Strategy section 9.0 (Recycling). 
 

 
  

The 82 comments focussed on: 
 

 The need for the targets to be higher – up to 90% 

 The need to reduce waste first 

 To reduce the amount of plastic and recycle plastic film 

 
Yes   96% 
 
No   2% 
 
Don’t know  2% 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



18. Please make any comments you have on Q17 in the box provided.  
 

 
 

19. Do you have any further comments on any aspect of the Strategy? 
 

 

 
 

The 69 comments focussed on: 
 

 Aiming to achieve these targets sooner 

 Including cardboard, textiles, cartons metals, plastic film 

 Only if economic, markets are available and capacity allows 

 More education and incentives 

The 73 comments were wide ranging but included: 
 

 Good to have a strategy but doesn’t go far enough 

 Need to be bold, assertive 

 More community engagement, schools work and education 

 More working with supermarkets and reducing packaging at source 

 Make things easy 

 More on the go recycling  

 Don’t charge at HWRCs 

Page 82

Agenda Item 8


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Budget 2021/22 Position Statement
	7 Government Consultation Responses
	8 Resource and Waste Management Strategy for Devon and Torbay



